TRANSPORT RESEARCH FOURTH FRAMEWORK PROGRAMME RAIL TRANSPORT

Remain

EUROPEAN COMMISSION

> Modular system for reliability and maintainability management in European rail transport_____



TRANSPORT RESEARCH FOURTH FRAMEWORK PROGRAMME RAIL TRANSPORT DG VII — 74

Remain

Modular system for reliability and maintainability management in European rail transport

Fraunhofer Institut IITB — Deutsche Bahn AG — RENFE — Ambit Ergo Systems — Sintef — ISAP — VAE



The information contained in this publication does not necessarily reflect either the position or the views of the European Commission.

A great deal of additional information on the European Union is available on the Internet. 't can be accessed through the Europa server (http://europa.eu.int).

Cataloguing data can be found at the end of this publication.

Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 1998

SBN 92-828-4943-0

D European Communities, 1998

Printed in Belgium

The research and development project

REMAIN

aimed at the design and promotion of an integrated system for the management of reliability and maintainability in European railway systems.

The project has been funded by the European Commission under the Transport RTD Programme of the 4th Framework Programme

The consortium that carried out the project consisted of two European railway companies, a public transportation operation, a supplier of railway infrastructure equipment, a software house, and two applied research organisations.

> This document summarises methods and procedures and describes the project results.

> > COORDINATOR'S ADDRESS:

Fraunhofer Institut für Informationsund Datenverarbeitung (IITB) Mr. Jürgen Kreutz Fraunhoferstr. 1

D-76131 Karlsruhe

Phone +49 731 6091 534 Fax +49 731 6091 413 e-Mail kr@iitb.fhg.de

CONTENTS

1	The Partnership				
	1.1	Fraunhofer Institut für Informations- und Datenverarbeitung IITB			
	1.2	Deutsche Bahn AG (DB-AG)	8		
	1.3	Red Nacional de los Ferrocarriles Espanoles (RENFE)	8		
	1.4	Ambit Ergo Systems	8		
	1.5	SINTEF	9		
	1.6	Athens-Piraeus Electric Railways S.A (ISAP)	9		
	1.7	VAE Aktiengesellschaft	10		
2	Exec	utive Summary	11		
3	OBJECTIVES				
	3.1	Starting Points			
	3.2	Objectives of the Revised Project Plan	15		
	3.3	Means used to Achieve the Objectives	15		
4	Sciei	17			
	4.1	Future User Requirements	17		
	4.2	Technical Realisation of the Demonstrator	22		
	4.3	Acquisition of Information	33		
	4.4	Communication of Information	41		
	4.5	Condition Monitoring of Components with Demonstration	54		
	4.6	Remain Methodology – Building Blocks and exemplary applications	61		
	4.7	Proposal of a Modular System Architecture	75		
5	Conclusions				
	5.1	Conclusions	87		
	5.2	Recommendations	87		
6	References				
	6.1	Public Documents			
	6.2	REMAIN Internal Reports			

.

1 THE PARTNERSHIP

The REMAIN consortium consists of two of the major European railway companies, a public transportation operation, a manufacturer of infrastructure and signalling equipment, a software house, and two of the leading applied research organisations in Europe.

		Organisation	Role	Туре	Country
	IITB	Fraunhofer-Gesellschaft zur Förderung der angewandten Forschung e.V. Institut für Informations- und Datenverarbeitung	C00	ROR	DE
DB	DB AG	Deutsche Bahn AG	CR	IND	DE
C RENFE	RENFE	Red Nacional de los Ferrocarriles Españoles	CR	IND	ES
	Ambit	Ambit Ergo Systems A.E.	CR	IND	GR
SINTEF Voluetität Varagamare	SINTEF	The Foundation for Scientific and Industrial Research at the Norwegian Institute of Technology	CR	ROR	NO
HIAD	ISAP	Ilektriki Sidirodromi Athinon Pireos	CR	IND	GR
VAE	VAE	VAE Aktiengesellschaft	AC	IND	AT

1.1 Fraunhofer Institut für Informations- und Datenverarbeitung IITB

Founded in 1949, Fraunhofer Gesellschaft today is the leading organisation for applied research in Germany with 47 institutes situated at 32 locations and an annual research volume of DEM 1,25 billion. 8300 employees apply their know-how in manifold research projects for clients from industry, SMEs and government.

Fraunhofer Institut für Informations- und Datenverarbeitung IITB is engaged in the transfer of methodology and techniques in the field of information technology into practicable solutions. It has about 250 employees and 10.000 square meters offices and modern laboratories.

IITB has a strong background in developing and providing automation equipment and systems for industrial process control. Further, IITB has extensive experience and supporting infrastructure in the area of software development and software engineering. IITB has been involved since 1986 in many CEC projects in the area of open systems for industrial automation.

The Partnership

IITB co-ordinated the project and provided knowledge and experience in particular in the fields of

- Signal analysis, pattern recognition and machine diagnosis
- Industrial process automation
- Computer architecture, distributed systems and communication

1.2 DEUTSCHE BAHN AG (DB AG)

Deutsche Bahn AG is the largest transport company in Germany. With a corporate turnover of DM 30.5 billion in 1997, it also achieved satisfactory results in its fourth business year as a privately structured joint stock company.

The aim of Deutsche Bahn is to develop into an integrated mobility, transport and services group. In this context, to an increasing extent it will act on the future market Europe, in order to be successful - also especially on this market - as an efficient transport company and competitive service provider.

In the endeavour to attract more traffic to rail, the quality feature "availability of the track infrastructure and of the trains" plays a major role.

DB AG intends to improve the reliability and maintainability of the technical system railway. They want to feed their experiences into a modular diagnosis management system to be developed. At present, there is no overall concept for the components to be diagnosed (points, signals, barrier systems, etc.). DB AG wants to participate in the knowledge of the European railways and the European industry.

Favourable results are to be anticipated from an introduced standardised concept within the framework of Europe-wide calls for tender.

1.3 RED NACIONAL DE LOS FERROCARRILES ESPANOLES (RENFE)

The Spanish Railway RENFE is now structured in two parts: the Infrastructure part and the Exploitation part. The Infrastructure has the duty to provide a safe and reliable network to the Exploitation in order to get a fluid rail traffic, avoid delays and improve the rail transport. These requirements are especially high in the High Speed Lines, where punctuality indexes should be near 100 %.

On the other hand, there is a pressure to reduce the overall costs, and that means maintenance costs should be lowered. To achieve these goals, it is necessary to pay special attention to the reliability and maintainability aspects of the infrastructure components and rolling stock material.

The High Speed Infrastructure Division of RENFE is now engaged in the maintenance of the Madrid - Sevilla high speed line infrastructure, including the track, switching points, signalling and telecommunication equipment and power supply installations. Most of the personnel has also a lot of experience in conventional lines of RENFE.

1.4 Ambit Ergo Systems

Ambit Ltd was founded in 1989 and its main aim is systems integration and the generation of considerable local added value in state-of-the-art Information Technologies. Ambit is manned with scientists and engineers with considerable industrial and academic research experience, with post graduate degrees (M.Sc., PhD.)

in corresponding subjects. Ambit has connected its name and activity with sizeable projects in modern Technological & Industrial areas. In this sense Ambit has developed into a modern design and support centre serving the whole of the South-eastern Mediterranean basin. It is of some importance to report that although a new company, Ambit has already demonstrated considerable progress in exporting high technology products and services to the Middle Eastern countries.

The main activities of Ambit include the provision of services and technological solutions in the area of microelectronics where specialised engineers, design, simulate and guarantee production and delivery of VLSI Application Specific Integrated Circuits. Ambit also supports the development and integration of specialised applications and services in the areas of Executive Information Systems and Decision Support Systems using tools and technologies connected with Geographical Information Systems. At the same time Ambit has to show considerable research activity with participation in major EEC funded R&D projects such as ESPRIT III (MAXIMA) and STRIDE as well as in National funded projects.

1.5 SINTEF

SINTEF (The Foundation for Scientific and Industrial Research at the Norwegian Institute of Technology) performs contract research and development for industry and the public sector in the fields of technology and the natural and social sciences.

With 1850 employees and an annual turnover of NOK 1.4 billion, SINTEF is one of Europe's largest independent research organisations. Contracts from the public and private sectors provide 90% of the operating revenue.

SINTEF operates in close collaboration with the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU). SINTEF's experts co-operate in projects and share laboratories and equipment. Together, the two institutions form a centre of expertise of high international standard. SINTEF also co-operates with the University of Oslo.

SINTEF Industrial Management, Safety and Reliability perform contract research within the safety, reliability, maintenance and quality disciplines. The division has extensive experience in supporting industry and the public sector with solving problems within its work areas. Practical problem-solving skills combined with scientific competence and analytical capabilities have resulted in several innovations in safety and reliability techniques.

1.6 ATHENS-PIRAEUS ELECTRIC RAILWAYS S.A (ISAP)

ISAP is a public transportation operation aiming at providing transportation services in the wider metropolitan area of Athens.

ISAP has been offering public transportation services to its patrons since 1869 initially as SAP (Athens-Piraeus Railways) and later on as EIS. In 1976 ISAP became part of the Government sector and received the present name.

Today ISAP operates a line of 25.60 Km, of which 3 Km are in tunnel, between Piraeus and Kiffissia. It employs about 1300 persons, plus 340 persons for bus lines under his responsibility. ISAP transports about 110 millions passengers every year.

REMAIN

1.7 VAE AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT

With its 14 subsidiaries and associated companies, VAE is the current global technology leader in the turnout and electronic turnout surveillance system sectors. One focus of activity is research and development, which matches product innovations to the rising demands of customers.

VAE turnout technology mirrors the new thinking among the railways, which on the one hand are looking for products with low life cycle costs and proven high levels of economy, and on the other hand, products that offer the advantages of efficient laying technology.

In addition, VAE has also branched out from the narrow sector of turnout manufacture and has turned its attention to the area around the turnout. The equipping of a complete section of German Railways track with the VAE Roadmaster 2000, has allowed the first scientific study of the subsequent costs of a turnout after laying. In other words, the maintenance requirement and costs could be analysed following examination using the VAE turnout diagnosis system. Thus, VAE Roadmaster has become one of the tools used by the railways to attain permanent way economy, thereby bringing the company into a new, downstream customer relations phase after turnout sales.

A further step is formed by drive technology, and in particular, drive technology for tram system turnouts. Successful testing at European tram operators in conjunction with our partner Siemens, has opened up new area of expanded turnout technology.

The future strategic product orientation of the Group will lie in the combination of the turnout and its peripherals. Such a strategy differentiates VAE from its competitors and provides new points of contact with customers. For the world market leader must also take great care to maintain and defend its position, a fact that makes close co-operation with all VAE Group company customers essential.

2 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

It is a common objective of the European railway companies that their investments also in the RAMS area should pay off better than in the past.

Through a requirements analysis in the beginning of the project the general needs could be stated as follows:

- Cost reduction of maintenance by the introduction of condition monitoring where technically and economically feasible to decrease the number of necessary preventive maintenance (PM) actions
- Cost reduction of maintenance for a system by the application of some optimisation procedure, that takes into account the Life Cycle Costs of the whole equipment used and of the maintenance applied to the system and that helps in the selection of the correct maintenance type and the determination of the correct PM interval.
- Necessity of leaving the safety level unchanged and demand for a tool that helps to evaluate the safety level of a new system or maintenance strategy in the planning phase already.

These requirements set up the basic structure of the project, that comprised in addition to the requirements analysis work packages with the following objectives and results:

• Management of the project, including demonstrator exploitation

The demonstrator was used to deliver examples for the explanation and illustration of tools developed in the following work packages. For the demonstrator the three components turnouts, track circuits and axle counters have been equipped with condition monitoring devices because of their frequent contribution to delays and failures in infrastructure. Roughly these components contribute 30 % of all failures in signalling equipment as could be derived from statistical data collected in the requirements analysis. The line equipped is a conventional line type of DB AG between Dortmund and Hamm. The costs of the installation amounted to 2010 kECUs of investment and 214 kECUs for the installation. Of these costs 85% were used for the 68 turnouts being equipped.

• Acquisition of data, its storage and retrieval for RAMS-management

For the systematic storage and retrieval of data a structure has been proposed, in which data on failures, maintenance activities and costs are linked to an inventory database. The data also comprise condition monitoring information from sensors and human operators. The main principles are adopted to the ISO/DIS 14224 standards, with major enhancements concerning the inclusion of condition monitoring data, failure mode identification at maintainable item level, cost data related to failures and maintenance.

As a starting point it is recommended that each railway company develops its own database covering the following objectives:

- Retrieval of qualitative information (frequent problems)
- Provision of information on reliability parameters
- Provision of information regarding maintenance resources
- Provision of information on condition monitoring

RFMAIN

• Provision of information on LCC

A common structure should be agreed upon among European Railways to exploit in a later phase the potential of merging data into one common REMAIN or global database offering the following advantages:

- Extension of the experience base
- Comparison of the reliability of various products
- Validation of LCC data during life time
- Feedback to equipment vendors.

It will not be a simple undertaking to realise this global database concerning e.g. necessary discussions and standardisation among railways, but the REMAIN information system (see later) provides tools allowing a stepwise technical implementation of the concepts.

• Communication of data and information needed for RAMS management.

The results in this area have been contributed by the railway partners, based on knowledge on their existing communication lines and on knowledge from related EC programmes. For the demonstrator a fieldbus corresponding to the Profibus standard is used successfully for the collection of data from measuring points. Pre-processing of sensor data in the field is not implemented. Pre-processing in general would be advisable for the concentration of data before delivery to a centre. Several systems are available and described for the realisation of such a system, but it has to be observed that they fulfil the railway requirements concerning necessary cable length and environmental conditions, which normally can be met but might require additional costly installation provisions.

Shortcomings in cable length can be overcome in future by the GSM-R radio-link that offers itself for circumstances where cabling is not feasible or too expensive. The transfer of data between the base station system and mobile trackside stations is well specified and under construction and testing at the moment. To keep transmission costs low, again data concentration and compression techniques should be used in decentralised intelligent measuring points.

• Analysis of field data for condition monitoring of components.

Continuous on-condition monitoring is a rather new field to railway companies. This monitoring is performed by sensors, which measure quantities being related to the state of the component. Normally sensors cannot measure an interesting state directly but they deliver results that are more or less correlated with the information wanted (e.g. detection of wear of the frog point by counting the number of knocks of wheels against it). For this reason the raw sensor data must be analysed to extract the information hidden in them. For this purpose in the areas of signal analysis and pattern recognition a lot of methods exist, on which an overview was given. In addition to that all failures possible for turnouts and the neighbouring track have been collected, also those not yet being detectable by Roadmaster 2000. Especially for these undetectable failures a proposal for their future measurement has been worked out, that will be discussed in a workshop in the beginning of March.

Because automated condition monitoring is such a new field and also because failure states are very rare for many components being designed to high reliability standards, condition monitoring often cannot be based on objective sensor measurements but must be based on subjective experience of human experts. Since this procedure should also be as reliable as possible, a structured process for the introduction of expert knowledge has been developed. It was illustrated using the component "turnout" of the demonstrator.

• Strategic planning of maintenance, introducing condition monitoring under safety and cost restraints – REMAIN methodology.

It has been outlined that investments made by railway companies and their maintenance strategies should obey the following requirements:

- Cost reduction by the introduction of condition monitoring methods
- Cost reduction by the optimisation of maintenance plans
- Guarantee of the safety level.

To check the fulfilment of these requirements in a formal way, specific methods have been devised for all three areas. To start with guaranteeing the safety level – a prerequisite that must not be changed through a new system or strategy – a change analysis method has been developed (RCAM – REMAIN Change Analysis Method). For a new system or strategy changes may be observed in the frequency of a maintenance task in its duration and in the time of the day it is carried out and in the probability of making a maintenance induced error. The effect of these changes on safety is evaluated in three categories for each related component and a summation of the individual values gives the total result on safety. This method is not complicated and can easily be applied by maintenance engineers as it was illustrated for an example of the turnout.

For the evaluation of costs an LCC model has been provided taking into account contributions from the four areas of investment, operation including maintenance, delay, and hazard. Its focus is on annual cost and therefore situations can easily be compared, where the number of years in operation for two options under consideration is different. The application of the LCC model to a turnout in a high-speed line without and with condition monitoring yielded annual LCC costs of 17.000 or 14.400 ECU resp. (assuming 40 years of lifetime).

This LCC model is an inherent part of the strategic maintenance planning which had been originally developed as a formal method for REMAIN purposes and therefore was called RESMAP - REMAIN Strategic Maintenance Planning. It comprises several methodological steps of which the most important are:

- Failure cause analysis,
- Extended FMECA analysis,
- Application of a decision logic for the selection of appropriate maintenance types
- Determination of necessary maintenance intervals
- LCC analysis

The application of the RESMAP method again to the turnout of the demonstrator which is a conventional line opposed to the high speed line analysed above, revealed that a reduction of costs by a factor of 2 is feasible with Roadmaster 2000. In addition a detailed analysis for the individual sensors shows that not all of them are necessary being a potential for further savings.

REMAIN

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Proposal of a system architecture for the integration of the individual modules

The proposed architecture combines three major functional components

- Monitoring based on
 - Acquisition of data, their storage and retrieval of information, and
 - Communication of data and information needed for RAMS management
- State Prediction, using
 - Signal analysis and pattern recognition for components
- Maintenance Management, relying on the REMAIN methodology, i.e.
 - Strategic planning of maintenance,
 - Introduction of condition monitoring,
 - Observation of safety and cost (LCC) restraints.

The system is based on standardised components allowing the use of existing tools previously developed for particular platforms and also allowing the distribution of modules over different locations.

For the integration of existing tools of legacy software and for co-ordination of activities in a distributed system the Common Object Broker Architecture (CORBA) is the most promising platform. CORBA is an internationally recognised standard, implementations are available for nearly all hardware platforms and operating systems, and through its interface definition language, CORBA offers a systematic approach for the integration of legacy applications.

The system comprises an information system to facilitate the exchange of the various kinds of information occurring in RAMS management. Access to information at various locations is facilitated through the recommended use of Internet and World Wide Web techniques, which offer basic mechanisms to link information and can be used independent of specific operating systems and hardware platforms. The system adds to the web functionality facilities to arrange information in a structured manner, includes efficient search mechanisms and provides flexible and configurable means for access control.

3 Objectives

3.1 STARTING POINTS

REMAIN started with the objectives in the description of Task 27 of the Rail Transport Programme. There the intention was to create practical realistic methods and tools (also called models) with application guidelines for all categories of railway systems.

The original approach was proposed to be in two parts:

- development of methods and application guidelines for application in specifications, contracts and service management
- identification of RAMS data sources and development of a system for the continued extension, updating, analysis and interpretation of the data.

The methods developed should take into account all relevant factors like failure mechanisms, environmental (climate...) and operational (suburban, intercity, freight, infrastructure...) aspects, applied resources to the achievement of RAMS, degree of innovation and risk and others.

The deliverables of the task classified as a research action were theoretical: development of models and their description in a report. As such Task 27 represented a very broad approach which could not be followed in detail with the resources available.

3.2 OBJECTIVES OF THE REVISED PROJECT PLAN

Therefore in the first project phase a thorough definition of work to be accomplished was carried out that allowed to limit the scope of the task, to concentrate on important issues and to deliver not only a theoretical study but to work also in the realisation of a demonstrator as a test-bed for recommended methods. The criteria used in the definition phase were the following:

- Focus on infrastructure aspects
- Concentration on efforts already started by railway companies
- Weight on thorough definition of the database
- Strengthening of system aspects

3.3 MEANS USED TO ACHIEVE THE OBJECTIVES

During the active phase methods of conventional scientific work like exploitation of literature, knowledge transfer from similar projects in other areas, study of related European projects and discussions with experts in the field have been applied.

Also structured questionnaires have been prepared and thoroughly explained to partners and other experts to obtain results in specific areas of some workpackages. Several sessions have been held with experts from different railways, all preceded by intensive explanation and training. Partners themselves and other experts looked for inside and outside their respective organisations provided the necessary expertise to rely upon.

The exemplary application of methods to items of the demonstrator finally showed to be one of the most important means to achieve the objectives and especially to find

OBJECTIVES

out the specific attributes of a method, its range of applicability and its suitability for a given task.

To integrate condition-monitoring procedures into the process of RAMS management, different functional levels had to be addressed:

- acquisition of necessary data, data storage and retrieval,
- communication of RAMS data and information,
- analysis of field data for condition monitoring of components,
- development of the REMAIN Methodology for application at system level,
- provision of an information system by integration of the individual modules.

These levels had determined the structure of the work programme. Before the results on these levels are described in the following sections, an overview is given on the future user requirements (section 4.1) and on the condition monitoring equipment installed for the infra-structure demonstrator (section 4.2) in this project. References for the major sections are listed in chapter 1.

4.1 FUTURE USER REQUIREMENTS

The objective of this section is to give a survey on future user requirements. It is based on an analysis of general problems and statistics for important failure classes. Concentration occurs on infrastructure components.

4.1.1 GENERAL PROBLEMS

Discussions in the project group have indicated that future needs primarily are the reduction of maintenance costs, but also the reduction in delay time, without reducing the safety level (to be verified by a formal safety analysis).

Two interrelated ways of achieving this reduction are:

- 1. Systematic analysis of maintenance needs and organisation, e.g. using Reliability Centred Maintenance (RCM)
- 2. Introduction of Condition monitoring methods (CON-methods)

Both of these actions are based on an optimisation of costs including e.g.:

- Investments costs
- Maintenance costs
- Delay-time costs
- Hazard costs

The user requirements should therefore be that the investments in either of the above two strategies pay off. For instance it may not prove wise to require a given availability figure (e.g. 98%), because an increase from say 95% to 98% may lead to a higher increase in maintenance costs than what is gained through reduced delay time. It is therefore difficult, and also not recommendable, for the railway companies to state any future requirements regarding availability without linking this to the maintenance costs.

Therefore the user requirements will be:

Scientific and Technical Description

- 1. The maintenance costs should be minimised by the use of e.g. the concept of reliability centred maintenance (RCM).
- 2. The overall life cycle costs should be reduced by introducing condition-monitoring equipment (CON).

This is illustrated in Figure 4-1. The figure illustrates that RAMS enhancement (with the example of Roadmaster 2000) must run through the following steps:

- 1. Establishing the present situation by the use of life cycle cost analysis (LCCanalysis).
- 2. Predict the total costs (LCC) when using the Roadmaster 2000 as it is today.
- Analyse the necessity and cost effectiveness of each measuring point of R2000 by the use of a systematic method (RCM), and then predict the total costs using an optimised version of Roadmaster 2000.
- 4. Analyse the turnout by performing an RCM-analysis on all maintenance tasks, not only condition monitoring, and establish a new maintenance plan. Then assessing the total costs (LCC) benefiting from both an optimal maintenance plan and also extensive (but cost effective) use of condition monitoring methods.

In addition to this "single component" optimisation, all components on a given track have to be analysed in terms of possible simultaneous maintenance execution, i.e. packaging of maintenance jobs.



FIGURE 4-1: RAMS enhancement through condition monitoring and RCM

A complete maintenance plan therefore requires operational information as well, such as:

- Numbers of trains passing the track, and when
- Location of maintenance organisations
- Maintenance resources

Final Report

Scientific and Technical Description

4.1.2 STATISTICAL DISTRIBUTION OF FAILURES

A distribution of failures from turnouts and other infrastructure components provided by partners is presented in Figure 4-2 (conventional railway line) and Figure 4-3 (high speed railway line).





The statistical data of the high speed railway line include all kinds of failures due to the equipment itself; failures due to external causes (i.e. damages produced by maintenance machinery) are excluded. As can be derived from Figure 4-3, most of the failures (ca. 55%) are due to signalling equipment and turnouts. ("Signalling equipment" here covers signals, track circuits, interlockings, ATP or LZB, and the traffic control centre.)

In Figure 4-3 the infrastructure components are grouped into the five categories used by the high speed line:

- Signalling equipment and turnouts
- Communication equipment
- Other equipment
- Substations
- Overhead line

REMAIN

Scientific and Technical Description

Switches are an important component in the condition monitoring approach of the demonstrator, and they represent a frequent failure cause for conventional and high speed lines. These reasons led to the selection of the switch as the key element for exemplary applications of methods investigated in REMAIN.





4.1.3 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

This section summarises the future needs (derived from the current problems), and methods to fulfil these needs (or solve the current problems), which have been identified in the project.

At a general level European *requirements* are:

Cost reduction, essentially achieved by:

- Reduction in maintenance costs
- Reduction in delay time

without reduction of safety level.

Main means required to achieve this (identified in the REMAIN-project) are:

• Systematic analysis of maintenance needs and organisation, e.g. using Reliability Centred Maintenance (RCM)

• Introduction of Condition monitoring methods (CON-methods)

The anticipated effect on costs and delays of utilising these methods, should be confirmed by use of life cycle cost (LCC) analysis. Safety analysis methods will be used to confirm that there has been no reduction in safety level.

The combination of RCM-analysis and introduction of CON methods with LCC and safety analysis will be referred to as "REMAIN methodology" that is explained in more detail in 4.6.

The RCM and LCC-analysis methods are generally applicable to all types of systems or components, while CON-methods are system or component specific. The procedure should be concentrated on those components contributing most to delay time and maintenance costs, and then to identify relevant CON-methods for these.

For the demonstration of the "REMAIN-methodology" turnouts have been chosen as one "critical" component. The condition monitoring techniques installed for this component are described in the following section 4.2, which covers the entire technical realisation of the demonstrator.

The work can be extended by the railway companies on other critical components, provided that the most critical components within the company are identified. Knowledge about CON-methods for these components is also required.

An important issue is the reduction of maintenance costs by co-ordination of various maintenance activities. DB AG, RENFE, and ISAP already realise this fact and try to combine different maintenance actions. E.g., instead of separate checks of infrastructure components by each maintenance department concerned, it should be possible to carry out common inspections. Also – as shown by ISAP – repair work should be performed by mixed teams consisting of specialists who belong to different sections.

The planning of preventive maintenance activity must be based on detailed failure and repair statistics to avoid unnecessary effort and, on the other hand grant safety and reliability. Thus, collection and evaluation of relevant data should be supported by computer-based equipment and tools.

4.2 TECHNICAL REALISATION OF THE DEMONSTRATOR

The specific methods, for improvement of reliability and maintenance that have been focused in the REMAIN project, are condition monitoring methods. These methods are specific for each type of railway system/component, and it was only possible to assess in detail a small number of different components in this project. The components chosen should, therefore, preferably be those contributing most to delay time and maintenance costs.

As mentioned before, one of these systems/components is turnouts, which at the same time is one of the central components in the demonstrator (on DB AG's track between Dortmund and Hamm), together with track circuits and axle counters. Therefore a brief description of the technical systems

- Turnouts
- Track Circuits
- Axle Counters

and their condition monitoring strategies is provided below.

4.2.1 TURNOUTS

The information given below is adapted from VAE information on Roadmaster 2000.

4.2.1.1 PRINCIPLE OF REMOTE SUPERVISION

The turnout monitoring system allows to continuously supply the responsible maintenance personnel with information on the actual operating condition of the connected turnouts and track components.

There is an electronic data processing system, together with a comparison of desired and actual measured values, plus a trend visualisation. This makes it possible to foresee faults well in advance, before the given limiting values are reached.

In this way changes in the operating conditions, which might lead to a fault or bring about damage, can be recognised at the earliest stage.

4.2.1.2 MEASUREMENT PRINCIPLE

The overall function of remote supervision is split into several levels and is achieved by means of the combined use of hardware and software.

An overview of VAE Roadmaster 2000 is given in Figure 4-4 below.

Scientific and Technical Description



FIGURE 4-4: Overview of VAE Roadmaster 2000

On the acquisition level the measured data of those components which are to be monitored, that is, turnouts, axle counters, track circuits, are collected.

The measurement data are collected by appropriate sensors and analogue systems in a digital electronic collection system with bus modules. It is then pre-processed and prepared for transmission.

On the user level the measured data is visualised in the form of tables and graphs. The result is the output of such messages as required for the recognition of trends.

REMAIN

Scientific and Technical Description

4.2.1.3 MEASURING POINTS IN THE TURNOUT

The location of measuring points is illustrated in Figure 4-5.



FIGURE 4-5: Location of measuring stations in the turnouts (switches)

The measuring points are:

- 1. Monitoring of switch-stock rail contact area
- 2. Monitoring of open switch
- 3. Monitoring of switch operating rods and/or switch locking system
- 4. Monitoring of minimum distance between open switch and stock rail (switch flangeway)
- 5. Direct measurement of the force needed for each single operation of switches
- 6. Residual stress in the switch and/or the rodding (retaining force)
- 7. Current and time needed for the operation of switches
- Monitoring of the pressure needed in the switch machine for the operation of switches
- 9. Monitoring of the position of the detector rods
- 10. Monitoring of the strikes at the crossing point, indicating wear of the check rail and/or wing rail
- 11. Monitoring of screw preloading forces in bolted compound crossings
- 12. Longitudinal forces in the rail
- 13. Rail temperature and ambient temperature

A more detailed description of the measuring stations is given below.

1) Monitoring of the Switch-Stock Rail Contact Area

Inductive distance sensors are installed at several points of the right-hand and the lefthand stockrails, depending on the turnout radius and, consequently the length of the switch device.

The measuring method and the arrangement of the sensors make it possible that any "widening of the distance" between switch and stock rail (caused by heavy motion, insufficient lubrication, foreign particles ...) is discerned immediately and an appropriate message is triggered to the central station.

This measurement also enables selective lubrication (much longer lubrication intervals), because in combination with the force needed for the operation of switches trends are recognised.

2) Monitoring of the Open Switch

A specially developed inductive slot sensor measures the distance between the open switch and the stock rail at the switch tongue point each time the switches are operated.

3) Monitoring of the Switch Locking System

As these sensors are also located directly beside the switch operating rods, these rods are monitored for possible fractures. Similarly, any increased wear of bolts and bushes, and consequently any increase of tolerances will also be recorded.

4) Monitoring of the Switch Flangeway

The minimum distance between the open switch tongue and the stock rail is measured by a sensor of the same type as used for station 3. This sensor measures the switch flangeway each time the switches are operated.

Deficient minimum distance between switch tongue and stock rail might result in undesirable inner contact with passing wheel sets. This causes sinusoidal movements in the switch rail, which could lead to breakage.

5, 6, 7) Direct Measurement of the Force, Stress, Current and Time Needed for the Operation of Switches by Electric Switch Motors

A specially devised measuring bolt with a load cell is used for the continuous measurement of the force needed for the operation of switches. This electronic measuring bolt takes the place of the traditional bolt and thus additional mechanical machining is not necessary.

The average value of the switch operating force, stress, current, the time needed for the operation of switches, and the rail or ambient temperature are entered into a trend diagram for an overall evaluation.

8) Monitoring of the Pressure Needed in the Hydraulic Switch Machine for the Operation of Switches

By a pressure sensor in the hydraulic circuit and a current sensor in the feeder line of the hydraulic pump motor the same monitoring effects as in station 7 of an electric switch driving system can be realised. In this case stations 5 and 6 usually will not be provided.

The operation force (station 5) can be estimated from the hydraulic pressure value, the residual stress (station 6) is not recorded.

9) Monitoring of the Position of the Detector Rods

Inductive sensors are used for the contactless measurement of the position of the detector rods (position of the latch in relation to the control slide). These sensors are mounted directly at the housing of the switch machine. The sheet metal plate for the sensor is mounted on the detector rod (control slide).

Any change of the permissible clearance caused by

- length variations
- influence of temperature or
- wear (joints, bushes, pins)

is reported and thus the actual position of the latch is indicated.

A trend diagram shows any deviation from this set clearance instantly. Thus the actual position of the latch in the recesses of the control slides is always known.

If the amount of the clearance is equal on both sides, this will correspond to the zero line in the diagram. Thus the inspection can be carried out according to actual conditions only in the case of actual need.

10) Observation of the Strikes at the Crossing Area

In the area of the theoretical crossing point a special sensor is installed, which may be hit from above (by the wheel flange) or from the side (by the tread of the wheel) and then gives an electric signal. The pulses are counted and indicate the wear of the check rail and/or the wear of the wing rails. Thus necessary readjustments of the check rail can be carried out well before any damage of the crossing point by strikes of wheels occurs.

11) Monitoring of Screw Preloading Forces in Bolted Compound Crossings

In crossings of this type comprising several separate parts fixed by bolts and nuts, measuring rings can be included in any of these connecting devices. They measure the preloading forces applied to the bolts. Whenever the preloading forces of a bolt equipped in this way decrease or shearing of the bolt occurs, appropriate measures can be taken immediately.

12) Measurement of Longitudinal Forces in the Rail

The stresses which occur in a continuously welded track due to thermal expansion are measured by a special load cell and displayed together with the rail temperature value from station 13. This measuring method permits the display of the functional connection between rail temperature and longitudinal force. The actual force is displayed in a measured data chart which also indicates the positioning of the sensors in the track layout of the monitored area.

Again this chart is used for the establishment of a trend diagram for long term monitoring.

13) Rail Temperature and Ambient Temperature

Both temperatures are recorded by separate sensors, located under the foot of a stock rail and under the trackside collection system cabinet.

4.2.1.4 ELECTRONIC COLLECTION SYSTEM

The sensors and the computer system are connected by means of flexible cables, which are embedded in protective tubes. The measured values collected by the sensors are

transmitted to the collection system via these cables and are read and processed via adequate input modules.

Special software programs combine the collected data and prepare these for subsequent transmission. The collection system is realised in a modular open microprocessor technology and consists of the appropriate bus components. The bus components are located in a common modular sub-rack (19"-technology) and consist of the interface module, the processor module, and the appropriate I/O modules. This pre-processed measured data are transmitted to the central station for subsequent processing and visualisation by means of bus protocol or serial data communication.

4.2.1.5 CENTRAL STATION - VISUALISATION

The hardware of the central station consists of a reliable high-speed work station or PC. The collected measurements are displayed on a 21" colour monitor.

The data communication is performed via interface cards, which enable the adaptation to different transmission systems. The measurements are visualised using a special software which retrieves the data from the main memory of the computer. Thus the complete collection and visualisation of all data stored in the computer is made possible.

The visualisation computer is operated by means of user-friendly dialogues via keyboard and mouse. Using the processing protocol it is possible to subsequently prepare any statistics (trends, service, maintenance ...) for any period of time.

4.2.2 TRACK CIRCUITS

4.2.2.1 FUNCTIONAL DESCRIPTION

In order to give a functional description, Figure 4-6 shows a strongly simplified set-up of the track circuit, which consists of the basic elements: a device feeding current into the section, the insulated track section and a receiving device (track or motor relay).



The insulated section is provided with insulated joints at both ends which separate the insulated rails from the connecting track sections so as to prevent transfer of electricity. The feeding voltage U_{sp} drives the supply current I_{sp} in the "track clear" signalling

Scientific and Technical Description

circuit which consists of the damping resistor R, the insulated section and the track relay.

Since the two rails can only be insulated incompletely, a leakage current I_g spread continuously over the length of the insulated section flows - as undesired side effect - through sleepers and the ballast and reduces the quiescent current I_g as compared to I_{sp} .

Normally, I_R is large enough to keep the track relay energised (Figure 4-6, left side). As soon as a vehicle enters the section, however, the vehicle axles form an electric shunt of extremely low impedance to the track relay (Figure 4-6, right side); the shunt current I_N flows through the axles. The current I_R is reduced to a minimum I_{rest} . The track relay is de-energised and the section is signalled as being occupied.

The damping resistor in the feeding device has the task to reduce the supply current if the track is occupied and to keep the rest current which flows through the track relay as low as possible. The rest current's magnitude essentially affects the safety of relay operation.

The main characteristics of the track circuit are:

- The track relay is operated in a closed circuit system. Disruptions or resistance increased in the circuit, such as rail breakage, break of the connecting lines and faulty rail connectors as well as short-circuits lead to the de-energising of the relay. In the following it is signalled that the track is occupied, therefore railroad operation will not be endangered. The only disadvantage will be a reduced availability of the track section.
- The feeding device and the receiving device must each be connected to one end of the track section in order to ensure the above properties in the case of rail breakage.
- Excessive leakage current caused by inadequate rail insulation or faulty insulating joints prevents the track relay from getting energised ("track occupied" signalling).
- The insulated section must be longer than the largest possible wheel-base of rail vehicles in order to prevent any improper "track clear" signalling.
- The axle shunt resistor must be as small as possible. Insulating layers between wheel and rails or within the wheel set may under certain circumstances endanger proper operation.
- The more axles run over this section or the more frequently this section is overrun, the more reliable is the "track occupied" signalling.
- A mechanical restraint in the drive system of the track relay may endanger operation. Therefore relays with specific properties are used. Their functionality should be monitored, if possible, by means of the circuit technique.
- Excessive supply voltage may possibly prevent on account of the increasing rest current - the de-energising of the relay in the case of "track occupied" signalling.
- The track relay must be protected against external current which may have entered into the "track clear" signalling circuit.

In almost all cases the track circuit is based on the principle explained above. In the circuit design, however, there may be some differences on account of different operational and technical conditions.

In the case of 100 Hz track circuits the two rails are operated as go-and-return line between a feeding 100 Hz voltage point and a motor relay.

If the section is clear, the input of the motor relay will get the full supply voltage. If the section is occupied, the axles of the vehicle will form a shunt to the motor relay.

Fault recognition

The consequences of possible faults in the system are indicated by:

- a change of voltage at the motor relay as a result of a change of the ballast resistance
- a change of the phase relation.

4.2.2.2 CONDITION MONITORING METHODS FOR TRACK CIRCUITS

Special modules (track circuit modules), which are accommodated in a special module frame, have been developed for the monitoring of the voltage and the phase relation of the track circuits.





The function of the track circuit modules is to measure the operational parameters of the track circuits, to process them and to pass on the prepared measured values to the input modules of the turnout monitoring system VAE Roadmaster 2000.

The following operational parameters are measured:

- U_{GL} amplitude (peak value) of the track voltage
- U_H amplitude (peak value) of the auxiliary voltage
- φ_{PH} phase angle between these two voltages

These measured values are then transmitted to the central station, where they are entered into appropriate tables.

Again it is possible to call up a trend diagram for long-run observations for each monitored track circuit.

4.2.3 AXLE COUNTERS

4.2.3.1 FUNCTIONAL DESCRIPTION

An axle counter system which serves as safety device for the signalling of track clearance or occupation, consists of counting points which are positioned at the beginning or at the end of a section and a counter located in a signal box.

The counting points and the axle counter are connected via communication cables, and for the axle counter types ZP70M and ZP43M five leads for each counting point are needed.

A counting point consists of wheel sensors, the so-called rail contacts and the electronic connector box.

A rail contact consists of a transmitter and a receiver which are mounted on the rail web opposite to each other. In each device two coils are arranged in the longitudinal direction of the rail, which makes it possible to ascertain the direction.

In the connector box the signals of the two receiving coils are processed separately in two largely identical branches. The voltages are amplified, rectified and finally used for the control of a voltage/frequency transformer. If no overrunning of the coils occurs, the transformers will supply:

a frequency of $f_1 = 3,85$ kHz or $f_2 = 6,73$ kHz in the case of the ZP70M

a frequency of $f_1 = 3,6$ kHz or $f_2 = 6,52$ kHz in the case of the ZP43M

Then these two frequencies are processed in the electronic connector box by means of trigger and pulse shaper components. At the output there are two counting pulses available on separate count leads and one pulse on the monitoring lead for the activation of a motor counter.

The most important characteristics of the axle counters are:

- The function is not tied to an insulating superstructure (contrast to "track clear" signalling).
- The automatic "track clear" signalling method is also suitable for track sections with little traffic.
- The length of such a track section is essentially limited by the permissible length of the connecting lines, and may exceed the permissible length of track circuits by a multiple.
- Irregularities at the rolling stock (e.g. worn wheel flanges in certain traction unit types) lead to faulty counts.
- The axle counter also works in the case of very high traction currents. Thus, it is comparatively insensitive to the influence of any external voltage, provided that the counting pulses are transmitted adequately.
- Swinging axles may lead to disturbances under certain conditions.
- Superstructure devices mounted within a section with "track clear" signalling are not discovered.
- Compared to the track circuit much more equipment is needed.

• One counting station can be used for adjoining sections with "track clear" signalling.

If "clear" signalling is used for turnouts or turnout sections, more than two counting stations will be necessary.

The system has to fulfil the following tasks:

- Counting of the axles which enter and leave the section, without taking into account which counting station is passed and in which direction the section is entered or left. It must be possible to process input and output pulses simultaneously.
- "Track clear" signalling, if the numbers of the axles which have entered and left this section coincide.
- "Track occupied" signalling, if the counts do not coincide.
- "Track occupied" signalling for the section, if any pulse generator of the counting station starts working, but no counting of incoming or outgoing axles takes place or in the case of a line break in the connecting lines to the counting station.

The last task mentioned above is meant to ensure that the occupation of the track is also being signalled, if the counting station is partly faulty or the counting process is disturbed.

4.2.3.1.1 Fault recognition

The consequences of possible faults in the system are indicated by:

- Detuning in the frequency-selective circuits of the counting stations on the track and the counters in the signal box (drifting of frequencies).
- Changes of the electrical parameters of the counting stations on the track and the counters in the signal box.
- Temperature dependencies.

4.2.3.2 CONDITION MONITORING METHODS FOR AXLE COUNTERS

Special modules (axle count modules, Figure 4-8 have been developed for the control of voltages and frequencies of the axle counters.

The main functions of the axle count module are:

- acquisition of measured values
- calibration
- transmission of measurement results and errors to the turnout monitoring system

The function of the axle count module is to determine the measured values of two alternating voltages and one direct voltage as well as the calibration parameters of the test section and to transmit these values to the turnout monitoring system VAE Roadmaster 2000.

The axle count modules are accommodated in a housing beside the axle counting points. The measured values are transmitted to the central station at certain time intervals.

The display is in chart form and shows the following measured values:

U₀ direct supply voltage of the axle counting point

Scientific and Technical Description

- U1 peaks/peak value of quiescent voltage with undamped coil system 1
- U2 peaks/peak value of quiescent voltage with undamped coil system 2
- f₁ quiescent frequency with undamped coil system 1
- f₂ quiescent frequency with undamped coil system 2





4.2.4 SUMMARY

In this section condition monitoring (CON) methods of the demonstrator applied to turnouts, track circuits, and axle counters have been described. For turnouts the most complicated system with 13 measuring points is used, which had to be realised by the additional installation of external sensors. For track circuits and axle counters, the condition monitoring procedure is somewhat more simple because it can rely on internal values of voltages and frequencies for which the measurement is straightforward and cheap. In general, the contribution of turnouts to failures (see Figure 4-2 and Figure 4-3) is as high as that of track circuits and axle counters.

Due to this fact and especially due to the circumstance that for turnouts 13 extra measuring points had to be installed, turnouts had been selected for the further exemplifications, which also took into account the cost effectiveness of the individual measuring point (see section).

4.3 ACQUISITION OF INFORMATION

This chapter is concerned with work done on the design and study of necessary tools for the collection, storage and retrieval of railway-specific status, reliability and maintenance data. The information can be used for condition monitoring, strategic planning of maintenance and for reliability evaluation of components.

Due to principal and economic reasons not all relevant information can be captured by sensors. Therefore a data format is needed that also allows the input of human inspection data and subjective evaluation of acoustical and vibrational data which often contain valuable information on the status of brakes, engines, gearboxes, track sections etc. Aspects related to the collection and storage of human operator and sensor data are described in section 4.3.1.

Data are collected and stored for several purposes. These may be

- learning from experience
- identification of frequent problems,
- estimation of reliability parameters.

These purposes direct the selection of methods for information retrieval contained in section 4.3.2. The final section 4.3.3 gives a short summary.

4.3.1 DATABASE STRUCTURE

The general purpose of a REMAIN database is to facilitate systematic storage and retrieval of data. Part of the data is needed locally (level of one railway company), but for the extension of experience also a global database (on European level) is proposed.

The proposed database structure is widely based on experience from the OREDA project [ISO98]. Failures and maintenance activities are linked to an inventory database. One inventory record corresponds to one physical equipment, for example one particular turnout. Inventories are classified into "classes"; "turnout" is such a class.

4.3.1.1 OBJECTIVES FOR A LOCAL REMAIN DATABASE

The local REMAIN databases are implemented and maintained by each participating railway company. Each company chooses its own platform for implementation. The main objectives for such a local REMAIN database are:

- Retrieval of qualitative information ("Upper ten lists")
 - List of items frequently failing
 - List of frequently occurring failure causes
- Provide information on reliability parameters
 - Failure rates and life time distributions
 - Repair times
- Provide information regarding maintenance resources
 - Spare part consumption
 - Man-hours required (PM and CM)
- Provide condition monitoring information

- Current state of condition monitoring (CON) variables
- Correlation between failure probability and values of the CON variables
- Evolution of CON values as a function of time (how fast)
- Provide LCC information
 - Current state of maintenance and operation costs.
- 4.3.1.2 OBJECTIVES FOR A GLOBAL RAILWAY COMPANY REMAIN DATABASE

A global common railway database is foreseen to be implemented at a later stage. Such a database will give each railway company access to (anonymous) data from other railway companies. The main objectives for such a database are:

- To extend the experience base, i.e. more data
- Comparing reliability of various products (installing new equipment for which one self does not have experience)
- Validation of LCC data during life time
- Feedback to equipment vendors. This will help the manufactures to improve the reliability of their equipment.
- 4.3.1.3 PROPOSAL OF THE LOGICAL DATABASE STRUCTURE

4.3.1.3.1 Data Categories

The Reliability and Maintainability data shall be collected in an organised and structured way. The major data categories for inventory, failure, maintenance and state information data are given below. Note that the OREDA concept (ISO/DIS 14224 [ISO98]) does not include state information data. In Figure 4-9 the inclusion of state information is explicitly demonstrated. The OREDA concept does neither include cost data. In the proposed REMAIN database structure of Figure 4-9 cost data are not shown explicitly. However, the inventory, failure and maintenance database have fields (variables) describing cost data.





Inventory data: The description of an inventory is characterised by:

- 1. identification data; e.g. inventory location, classification, installation data, inventory class data;
- 2. design data; e.g. manufacturer's data, design characteristics;
- 3. application data; e.g. operation, environment.

These data categories shall in part be general for all inventory classes e.g. type classification and specific for each instance of an inventory e.g. radius for a turnout. This shall be reflected in the database structure.

Failure data are characterised by:

- 1. identification data, failure record and inventory location;
- 2. failure data for characterising a failure, e.g. failure date, maintainable items failed, severity class, failure mode, failure cause, method of observation.

Maintenance data are characterised by:

- 1. identification data; e.g. maintenance record, inventory location, failure record;
- maintenance data; parameters characterising a maintenance, e.g. date of maintenance, maintenance category, maintenance activity, items maintained, maintenance man hours per discipline, active maintenance time, down time.

The type of failure and maintenance data shall normally be common for all inventory classes with exceptions where specific data types need to be collected.

Scientific and Technical Description

Corrective maintenance events shall be recorded in order to describe the corrective action following a failure. Preventive maintenance records are required to get the complete lifetime history of an inventory.

State information (condition monitoring information) may be collected in the following manners:

- Readings and measurements during maintenance
- Observations during normal operation
- Continuos measurements by use of sensor technology

4.3.1.3.2 Data Format

Each record e.g. a failure event shall be identified in the database by a number of attributes. Each attribute describes one piece of information, e.g. the failure mode. It is recommended that each piece of information is coded where possible. The advantages of this approach versus free text are:

- queries and analysis of data are facilitated;
- ease of data input;
- consistency check undertaken at the input; by having pre-defined codes.

The range of pre-defined codes should be optimised. A short range of codes may be too general to be useful. A long range of codes may give a more precise description, but will slow the input process and may not be used fully by the data acquirer.

The disadvantage of a pre-defined list of codes versus free text is that some detailed information may be lost. It is recommended that free text is included to contain supplementary information. A free text field with additional information is also useful for quality control of data.

The values of data or attributes can be measured on several levels, which are often identified as nominal, ordinal, interval and ratio. All four levels shall be used in the REMAIN approach:

- Nominal-Level Measurement

The "lowest" level is the nominal level. No ordering between the values of the variable is assumed. This level is typically used for categorical data, which may e.g. be used by operators for describing the cause of a failure like wear, breakage, vandalism, etc.

- Ordinal-Level Measurement

The ordinal level is used when it is possible to rank-order all categories according to some criterion. Note that the ordinal level only rank-orders the values. It is not possible to say anything about *how much* the difference is between e.g. *moderate, medium* and *severe* wear.

- Interval-Level Measurement

In the interval level situation there is an ordering of the categories, in addition the distance between the categories is defined in terms of fixed and equal units. The temperature (measured in °C or °F) is a typical example. For the interval level there is no fixed zero point. Thus it does not make sense to claim that 20 °C is twice as hot as 10 °C. Interval-level measurements together with the following ratio-level are the area of sensors or gauges.

- Ratio-Level Measurement
The ratio level has the same properties as the interval level and has in addition a fixed zero point. For example temperature measured in °K satisfy the properties of a ratio level measurement. Also pressure measured in Bar will satisfy the ratio level measurement, i. e. it makes sense to compute ratios of measured values (Pressure of 1 bar is twice as high as that of 0,5 bar).

4.3.2 INFORMATION RETRIEVAL

Information is retrieved having some purpose in mind. REMAIN has focused on the following three topics:

- Learning from experience. That is, when a problem occurs the failure and maintenance databases can be searched for events which are similar to the current problem. If the database is properly updated, we might then find information about solutions that proved to be efficient, and also solutions that did not proved to be efficient in the past.
- Identification of common problems. By producing "Top ten"-lists (visualised by Pareto diagrams) the database can be used to identify common problems. For example which component contribute most to the total downtime (cost drivers), what are the dominate failure causes etc. "Top-ten" lists are used as a basis for deciding where to use resources for improvements.
- A basis for estimation of reliability parameters. Important parameters to use in RAMS analyses are the Mean Time To Failure (MTTF), ageing parameters and repair times. Please see section 4.6.

4.3.2.1 LEARNING FROM EXPERIENCE

The database may be used as a "case based" experience database, i.e. each failure and maintenance report represents a case from which experience might be gained. To utilise the information it is important that the failure and maintenance reports contain extensive information about the failure, the causes of the failures, what corrective actions were made, and also the results of any corrective action taken.

Since the database contains thousands of records it is also important that it is easy to search the database for relevant cases. The use of pre-defined lists in the database will make such search easier. In addition to such features built into the database, it is also important that the database can easily be searched. Most database systems have "search engines" for identification of relevant records. The search criteria can either be specified by a user friendly dialogue, or by some command statement such as a SQL statement.

In a practical situation when a problem is at hand, one will typically search for "similar" problems. It is however, not a straight forward task to define "similar" in this context. A problem is often characterised by a set of "attributes". However these attributes may be on different levels of measurements (see data format above) and the definition of "similarity" measures is therefore complicated. Several techniques for identification of similar events are described under the broad class of "data mining" techniques. Data mining is further one part of the more general problem of Knowledge Discovery in Databases (KDD) defined as: "the non-trivial process of identifying valid, novel, potentially useful, and ultimately understandable patterns in data".

REMAIN

Scientific and Technical Description

4.3.2.2 IDENTIFICATION OF COMMON PROBLEMS

A database is also a useful source for identification of common or frequent problems. The idea is to identify those problems which contribute most to the threat against safety, punctuality/availability, costs etc. This process is often carried out in two or more steps. First the database is searched for components contributing much to for example delay time. Thereafter these components/systems are further investigated to identify failure causes. A so-called Pareto diagram is often produced to visualise the result of the "Top ten list". An example is shown in Figure 4-10.





Very often the two or three first "bars" account for a large amount of variable of interest. When constructing the Pareto diagram the following dimensions should be considered:

- What should be the "score"-variable?
- What is the "grouping" variable?

4.3.2.2.1 The "Score" Variable

The "score" variable represents the cost in some way or another. Various information from the failure and maintenance database can be used to produce a "score" variable, e.g.:

- Severity class
- Impact of failure on operation (number of trains affected, safety impact, material damages etc)
- Downtime
- Spare part consumption (costs)

• Maintenance man-hours

One or more of these variables should be combined into one quantitative measure representing the "score" for each event in the failure/maintenance database. This "score" variable is used when producing the Pareto diagram.

4.3.2.2.2 The "Grouping" Variable

The equipment class is usually the first variable to group on. In the discussion on future requirements (section 4.1) the inventory class was used as a grouping variable when the "turnouts" were chosen as a component of interest in the REMAIN project. Now several paths of breakdown exist. For example a breakdown into equipment types and/or application may be performed. Another breakdown is to group on sub-units and/or maintainable items.

4.3.2.3 A BASIS FOR ESTIMATION OF RELIABILITY PARAMETERS

Reliability parameters are important input to work strategic maintenance planning. In the RESMAP methodology the following parameters are of most importance:

- Parameters for "non-observable" failure progression
 - Mean time to failure (inverse of the failure rate)
 - Ageing parameter (a)
- Parameters for "observable" failure progression
 - Parameters in measurable quantity, e.g. failure progression W(t)
 - Parameters describing the "failure limit"
- Other parameters
 - Mean time to repair
 - Spare part consumption
 - mean down time when a failure has occurred.

In the first situation, we will take advantage of standard life time analysis. Regarding modelling of failure progression W(t), refer to [RSAM].

4.3.2.4 OTHER TECHNIQUES

The borderline between information retrieval from a database and analysis of the data stored is not quite clear. In any case *plotting techniques* are provided with most databases. Such techniques comprise:

- Bar charts,
- Pie charts and
- Box-and-whiskers plots.

In order to control maintenance cost, it is important to identify the "cost drivers" by observing qualitatively one or more of the following variables:

- Severity class of failures,
- Impact of failure on operation,
- Downtime,
- Spare part consumption,
- Maintenance man-hours.

By means of qualitative *failure cause analysis* it is possible to identify failure causes that repeat. In the database failure causes may be found at two levels:

- Failure descriptor (general physical cause)
- Failure cause (Root causes related to design, specification, organisation).

Mathematical estimation procedures for failure rates, uncertainty, intervals, lifetime distributions and use of the data in *signal analysis tools* for condition monitoring usually cross the borderline between retrieval and analysis. These tools and examples of them are presented in sections 4.5 and 4.6.

4.3.3 SUMMARY

A database structure has been proposed in which data on failures, maintenance activities and costs are linked to an inventory database. The data also comprise condition monitoring information from sensors and human operators. The main principles are adapted to the ISO/DIS 14224 standards with the following major enhancements:

- Inclusion of condition monitoring data,
- Failure mode identification at maintainable item level,
- Cost data related to failures and maintenance arising during lifetime.

For the retrieval of relevant information methods have been collected to fulfil mainly three purposes:

- Learning from experience,
- Identification of frequent problems,
- Estimation of reliability problems.

More details on the database structure, together with illustrative examples for some components of the demonstrator, are described in [RDBR].

As a starting point, it is recommended that each railway company develops its own database. In order to ensure comparability between the databases of each company, a common structure should be agreed upon.

In a later phase one should evaluate the potential for merging data into one common REMAIN database. It should be noted that such a common REMAIN database need not be implemented as one physical database. It is possible to work with several distributed databases implemented on different platforms. However, the logical structure of the various databases should be compatible.

4.4 COMMUNICATION OF INFORMATION

In this chapter work is described that had to assess the suitability of existing and planned communication lines and protocols for the transmission of status information. As a starting point information by railway companies on existing structures, knowledge of partners on their own networks and results from related European programmes like EUROBALISE and EURORADIO was used, that is compiled in section 4.4.1.

For the demonstrator a fieldbus similar to INTERBUS-S is used and its reliability in the hostile environment of a railway infrastructure was observed during the project and has proven to be excellent. A comparison was made with other existing local area networks, see section 4.4.2.

In future radio links will gain growing importance and many existing radio channels will be given up by railways in favour of the GSM-R standard, that is described in section 4.4.3, followed by a short summary.

The proposals worked out in this chapter were based explicitly on results in other areas without spending time for own investigations and developments.

4.4.1 EXISTING INFRASTRUCTURE

The telecommunication infrastructure as it exists within railway companies today, mainly is used for voice communication and data transmission. To a relatively small extent they are also applied for real time transmission of video signals, e.g. for visual inspection and surveillance. Transfer media include twisted wire, coaxial cables, glass fibre, and wireless transmission. The importance of GSM-R in this field is steadily growing.

The following tables give an overview on telecommunication infrastructure and services being in use in the participating railway companies RENFE, ISAP and DB AG

Concerning the exchange of diagnostic data within railway companies and the development of common European communication facilities for diagnostic data, no clear preferences can be derived from the tables. However, the use of the GSM-R standard can be recommended for diagnostic data too, as it offers the flexibility required for border-crossing trains.

NR	Communication Infrastructure	Media	Protocol Access	Service	Safety/ Security	Reliability	Performance	Comment
11	Voice services	glass fiber	PCM, Voice	telephone communication, verbal announcement messages	redundant		4 x 2Mbps, duplex	
12	Voice services	glass fiber, radio	PCM, Voice	radio communication	redundant		4 x 64Kbps, duplex	
1.3	Voice services	glass fiber	PCM, Voice	music distribution to passenger stations			3 x 64Kbps	
14	Voice services	glass fiber	PCM Voice	other telephone communications	1		3 x 2 Mbps	
2.1	Data services	glass fiber	Data	communication between control centers and interlockings	redundant		2 x 64kbps	
22	Data services	glass fiber	data	selection of Tv camera	redundant		64 kbps	
2.3	Data services	glass fiber	X 25	(1) below	redundant		6 x 64kbps, eluplex	
24	Data services	glass fiber	data	administrative traffic			6 x 64kbps	
25	Data services	glass fiber	data	other data communication			6 x 2Mbps	
31	video services	glass fiber	video data	image service	1		3 x 2Mbps	

REMAIN

Scientific and Technical Description

NR	Communication Infrastructure	Media	Protocol/ Access	Service	Safety / Security	Reliability	Performance	Comment
1	Interior Telecommunicat ion Network	wire, 2pair	voice	telephone				Telephone center ALCATEL 2600D Upgrade to glass fiber planned
2	City Line Telephones	wire	voice	telephone				
3	Radio Link	radio	VOICE	voice communication between trains, control center, walking stuff on the line, security group center, workshops				Installation of new Radio Link in progress

TABLE 4-2: Telecommunication infrastructure - ISAP

NR.	Communication Infrastructure	Media	Protocol/ Access	Service	Safety/ Security	Reliability	Performance	Comment
11	ARCOR-Voice- Services	wire	voice protocol analog access	telephone				only for voice communication
12	ARCOR-Voice- Services	wire	voice protocol digital access	ISDN				
2.1	ARCOR-Data- Services	wire	X 21 V 24 V 35 X 25 X 3/X.28 access	X 25 HDLC	greatest security of all systems provided by ARCOR X 25 operates also well on bad wires	97,5 % availability	9,6 -64 kbps	packet switched network international standardized data service Gateway to Hermes-Net Not suitable for real-time application
22	ARCOR-Data- Services	Wire	X 21 V.24 V.35/V 36 G.703 access	Frame Relay	transparent communication with only poor abilities for error detection and correction	97 5 % availability	64 kbps n x 64 kbps 2 Mbps	used for transmission of huge amounts of data ARCOR provides Frame Relay protocol only for long distance connections
23	ARCOR-Data- Services	wire	X.21 V.24 V.35/V 36 G.703 access	DECnet TCP/IP		97 5 % availability	64 kbps n x 64 kbps 2 Mbps	DECnet will not be improved; TCP/IP is used for BKU only
24	ARCOR-Data- Services	wire	X 21 V 24 V 35/V 36 access	pear to pear SNA Transdata		97 5 % availability	9 6 kbps kbps 64 kbps	transparent mode SNA and Transdata will be replaced by X 25 and Frame Relay Pear to Pear require modems for each point of connection
31	ARCOR Operational Communication Services	wire	voice protocol analog access	BFMA				will be replaced by GSM-R
32	ARCOR Operational Communication Services	wire, coax, glass fiber		Video Surveillance				
3.3	ARCOR Operational Communication Services	wire	X 25	Telex				will be replaced by BKU, RbMV or LeiBIT
34	ARCOR Operational Communication Services	radio		Rescue Trains				
41	Radio Service	radio	analog	Zugfunk				will be replaced by GSM-R
42	Radio Service	radio	analog	Rangierfunk Remote Control for brake check				replaced by GSM-R
43	Radio Service	radio	analog	BI-FU				replaced by GSM-R
44	Radio Service	radio	analog	KFZ-Funk				replaced by GSM-R
45	Radio Service	orber	analog	Bundelfunk				replaced by GSM-R
40	Radio Service	radio	analog	Kernote Control				replaced by GSM-R
4.7	Radio Service	radio	analog 	Discontinucking				replaced by GSM-R
	Naulo service	14010	A 13	edienst (ICE)				replaced by Galvi-R
49	Kadio Service	radio	C-Net	U-Kart				Migration to GSM
5.1	Special Service	wire	NA	Zeitdienst				Will be replaced by DCF77 technology
5.2	Special Service	wire		FUSTE	great security			replaced by GSM-R
5.3	special Service	wire		Standard- Streckenfern- meldekabel				will be replaced by glass fiber

 TABLE 4-3:
 Telecommunication infrastructure - DB AG

Note: Explanation of German terms used in the above tables

German Term:	Explanation:
Zugfunk	Ground-train radio link
Rangierfunk	Radio links for stations (shunting radio)
BFMA	Telephone switching centre for operational communication
Streckenfernmeldekabel	trackside wire
BI-FU	Operational communication and maintenance communication radio link
Zeitdienst	Time annunciation service
FÜSTE	Remote control of technical equipment
Ö-Kart	tunnel radio link for public telephone
Diagnosevormeldedienst	Diagnostic data exchange radio link for ICE
KFZ-Funk	Car radio link
Bündelfunk	special radio link

4.4.2 LOCAL AREA DATA NETWORKS

Local area data networks (LANs) are used to interconnect distributed communities of computer-based data terminal equipment (DTE) within a single building or a localised group of buildings.

LANs maybe classified into two types:

- wired LANs using twisted-pair or coaxial cable, and
- wireless LANs that utilise radio or light waves.

4.4.2.1 WIRED LANS

Wired LANs are mainly using one or more of the following topologies:

- star
- bus
- ring, and
- hub

in which bus and ring are the preferred topologies for LANs designed to function as data communication subnetworks for the interconnection of local computer-based equipment.

There have been adopted two techniques for the access control of LANs in the various standard documents, mainly IEEE 802, that are:

- carrier-sense multiple-access with collision detection (CSMA/CD) for bus network topologies and
- control token for either bus or ring networks.

An access method based on a slotted ring is also widely used with ring networks.

A CSMA/CD bus, also known as Ethernet, is normally implemented either as a 10 Mbps baseband coaxial cable network or as a 1 Mbps twisted-pair cable network. To overcome near-end crosstalk (NEXT) effects special integrated circuits known as adaptive crosstalk cancellation circuits are needed to ensure reliable operation at 10 Mbps with 100 m wire length. To detect errors in transmission a 32-bit cyclic redundancy check (CRC) value is used within the transmission frame, which allows a reliability in bit failure detection of 2e-10.

A typical token ring network, using a control token, where a screened twisted-pair cable is used as a cable medium, allows bit rates up to 16 Mbps. For this type of network also a 32-bit CRC is used to detect transmission failures.

4.4.2.2 WIRELESS LANS

A reason to use Wireless LANs are the costs associated with the installation of the physical wire cables, another reason is the advent of handheld terminals and portable computers. But the use of wireless media causes also some problems:

- radio-frequency waves are affected by path loss, adjacent channel interference and multipath propagation, and
- infrared light is interfered by background (ambient) light, like sunlight and light produced by filament and florescent light.

For radio wireless LANs there are four transmission schemes:

- direct sequence spread spectrum
- frequency-hopping spread spectrum
- single-carrier modulation, and
- multi-subcarrier modulation

and for infrared light based LANs

- direct modulation and
- carrier modulation techniques.

Both radio and infrared operate using a broadcast medium, that is, all transmitters are received by all receivers within the field of coverage of the transmitter. So a media access control (MAC) method is required with wireless LANs. The main schemes used are

- code-division multiple access (CDMA),
- carrier-sense multiple-access with collision detection (CSMA/CD),
- carrier-sense multiple-access with collision avoidance (CSMA/CA),
- time-division multiple access (TDMA) and
- frequency-division multiple access (FDMA)

There are two standards for wireless LANs under development, IEEE802.11 in the United States and HiperLAN in Europe, being developed by ETSI.

4.4.2.3 DATA COMMUNICATION VIA FIELDBUS

This text discusses some aspects of the data communication between sensors, related field devices and data processing devices over a fieldbus installation. The fieldbus is regarded as a special kind of LAN. The following requirements are assumed to hold for the data communication via a fieldbus system within the application addressed in REMAIN:

- Relatively low data transfer rates
- Moderate to low response times
- Defined environmental conditions
- Data transfer over long distances
- No power supply of bus devices over the data communication line

With respect to these requirements common features of all fieldbus systems are the following:

4.4.2.3.1 Transfer Rate:

The data transfer rates of all common fieldbus systems are sufficient for the intended purpose.

4.4.2.3.2 Response Times

Data Transmission in the intended application is mainly one-way: data of sensors are communicated to data collection and pre-processing devices and from there to some central processing station. In general, the total time needed for such a chain of data transmissions is not critical and can be allowed to take several seconds. All considered fieldbus systems are able to meet these low requirements.

4.4.2.3.3 Environmental conditions

There are specific requirements for electronic devices used with rail traffic concerning the environmental conditions, under which they must correctly operate. For example, the following requirements are listed in "ERTMS Environmental Requirements Specification (ERTMS Control/Command, Environmental Requirement)":

- Height between 0 m and 1800 m above M.S.L.
- Outside ambient temperature -40 °C to +55 °C
- Outside relative air humidity 5 to 100 %
- Operation under direct sunlight and UV
- Operation under mechanical stresses like shock or vibration.
- Operation at continuos deviations from rated voltages (+10% to -15% for a.c., +20% to -10% for d.c.)
- Operation in the electromagnetic environment (external electromagnetic fields, electromagnetic discharges or bursts, etc.)
- Operation under the most diverse environmental conditions such as wind, precipitation, splash or jet water, formation of ice and snow, pollution of ambient air by dust, smoke, aggressive gases and steams, salt spray mist, etc.
- Protection against the action of plants, mould and small animals.

Such requirements primarily do not concern the choice of a fieldbus system rather than the actual installation of its devices and communication media. (Depending on how strict the requirements are, the housings of nodes might be reinforced, made waterproof, air conditioned or buried underground, communication cables might be put into sealed tunnels, etc.)

A common requirement on fieldbus systems with respect to the operation under harsh environmental conditions is the existence of error detection and recovery procedures on the various data transmission protocol layers. All commonly used fieldbus systems include such provisions.

4.4.2.3.4 Distances between nodes:

Fieldbus systems are not designed for long distance data transmission. The maximum admissible cable lengths are typically a few kilometres.

For data transmissions over tens or even hundreds of kilometres a simple fieldbus architecture is not possible. An example of a suitable architecture could be a 'low level part' of several fieldbus installations (e.g. connecting sensors and data pre-processing units in the vicinity of a railway station) interconnected by some 'high level' wide area data communication system.

REMAIN

SCIENTIFIC AND TECHNICAL DESCRIPTION

4.4.2.4 COMMONLY USED FIELDBUS SYSTEMS

The following widespread fieldbus systems are considered in the next sections:

- PROFIBUS
- FIP
- InterBus-S
- P-NET
- CAN
- DIN Meßbus
- LON

The following table gives an overview of some features of these fieldbus systems:

	PROFIBUS	FIP	InterBus-S	P-NET	CAN	DIN Meßbus	LON
Тороюду	Line	Line	Ring	Line, ring	Line	Line	Free topology possible
Max. No nodes	126	256	1 master, 256 slaves	125 per segment	128 (ISO 11898)	32	32385
Max. distance	About 10 km	2 km	12,8 km			Some km	
Max. distance between nodes		500 m	400 m	1200 m		500 m	320 m
Physical media	Twisted Pair, Fibre optics	Twisted Pair, Fibre optics	5 and 8 wire cable, Fibre optics	Twisted Pair, Fibre optics	Twisted Pair, Fibre optics	Twisted Pair	Twisted Pair, Infrared,Radio, Power Line
Physical data transmission	RS 485	RS 485	RS 485	RS 485	ISO 11898, RS 485	RS 485, FD	RS 485 (Twisted Pair)

TABLE 4-4: Features of selected fieldbus systems

4.4.2.4.1 PROFIBUS

The physical layer uses RS485 transmission at rates from 9.6 kbit/s up to 500 kbit/s on twisted pair cable of respective maximum segment lengths from 1200m (4800m with repeaters) down to 200m (800m with repeaters). The respective maximum drop cable lengths are 20m and 1m depending on cable type. At most 3 repeaters can be in sequence. Up to 32 devices can be on a segment, up to 127 on a network without gateways. The bus shape is a line (tree shapes are possible within electrical constraints). Power supply over the signal line not possible, but in the same bus cable. Fibre optic transmission is possible, although not defined in DIN 19245.

PROFIBUS distinguishes between master and slave devices. Media access is controlled by a token circulated between the masters. PROFIBUS provides services for variable access (cyclic and acyclic data transmissions, but not periodic transmission), program invocation, domain management (data down- and uploading) and event management. Time stamping of messages is not supported and there is no time consistency of data (but connections are aborted when confirmations are not received within a time out).

4.4.2.4.2 FIP

The maximum twisted pair segment length without repeaters (with repeaters) is 1500m (3500m) for transmission rate 31.25 kbit/s and 500m (1500m) for 1Mbit/s. The

maximum admissible transmission delay between any two devices is limited. This yields the maximum number of repeaters and segment length. The transmission rate 2.5Mbit/s is also possible. Up to 32 devices can be on a segment, up to 256 on a network without gateways. The maximum drop cable length is 1m. The bus shape is a line (tree shapes are possible within electrical constraints). Fibre optic transmission is being defined. Power supply over the signal line or in the same bus cable is possible. A bus arbiter controls the bus access.

The services provided include periodic and acyclic data transmissions, program invocation, domain management (data down- and uploading) and event management. The fundamental feature is a distributed database of variables which are updated periodically. Time stamping of messages is not supported, but time consistency is.

4.4.2.4.3 InterBus-S

The topology is a ring realised in a single cable. The 2-wire ring comprises a chain of point to point connections. The maximum distance between two devices is 400m, the maximum total length is 13km with every device acting as a repeater. Fibre optics is also possible, although not defined in the DIN draft standard 19258. A system of connected subrings can be used to form a tree structure. Up to 64 devices can be on a segment, up to 256 in a network. The bit rate is 500kbit/s, but a special circulating message frame allows all devices to send and receive simultaneously. The frame contains the I/O data of all devices; data exchange is only with a central master. InterBus-S is optimised for the periodic exchange of user data (typically up to 4 bytes) between each of the field devices and the central master. Acyclic transfer of larger data units is also possible. A subset of the PROFIBUS application layer services can be optionally used over InterBus-S. Profiles for drives and encoders are defined.

4.4.2.4.4 P-NET

P-NET has a ring topology of maximum length 1200m with point to point connections of shielded twisted pair. The RS485 transmission is at bit rate 76.8 kbit/s. Up to 125 devices (32 masters) can be on a bus segment. P-NET distinguishes between master and slave devices. A virtual token circulated between the masters controls bus access. MMS (ISO 9506) services are provided in the application layer.

4.4.2.4.5 CAN

The bit rate depends on the bus length; the maximum rate of 1Mbit/s is only for cable lengths up to 40m whereas the rate 50kbit/s, for example, is for lengths up to 1000m. A 3-wire cable is used. Drop cables are possible, but not specified. The medium access is CSMA/CA (Carrier Sense Multiple Access/Collision Avoidance). The transfer of variables with 8 bytes of user data is defined. No real-time services are provided.

4.4.2.4.6 DIN Meßbus

The length of a bus segment without repeaters can be up to 500m with drop cables up to 5m. The length is arbitrarily extendible with repeaters. A master (responsible for the centralised media access) and at most 31 slave devices can be connected to a segment. Various bit rates using RS485 up to a maximum rate of 1Mbit/s are possible. A 4-wire cable with full duplex transmission is used to increase the bus reliability. Fibre optic and infra red media are also possible. DIN Meßbus is designed for the reliable transfer of measurement data. Data is sent as 7 bit ASCII symbols. An application layer based on MMS and services for measurement applications are being defined.

4.4.2.4.7 LON

In a LON network, Neuron® protocol chips are interconnected via transceivers and physical media. Standard transceivers are available for twisted pair cable, radio transmission and power line transmission. Possible transmission rates range from 0.6 kbit/s up to 1250 kbit/s (commonly used bit rates are 1250 and 78 kbit/s). The architecture allows a variety of different bus topologies. For a single line doubly terminated twisted pair cable operated at 78 kbit/s and connected via a standard transceiver (FTT-10) the maximum cable length is 2700 m (without repeaters) and can be multiplied with repeaters. It is also possible for customers to build their own transceivers and use virtually any physical media with them. The addressing scheme allows up to 127 nodes (Neuron chips) in a logical segment. Up to 255 logical segments can coexist in one address domain.

The Neuron Chips implement the LonTalk protocol, which combines point to point and multicast/broadcast message transmissions with a model of a distributed database of "network variables" which are updated on demand.

4.4.3 RADIO COMMUNICATION VIA GSM-R

GSM-R is a digital mobile radio communication system based on the UIC standard 'EIRENE'.

4.4.3.1 COMPONENTS OF THE GSM-R TRANSMISSION SYSTEM

4.4.3.1.1 Base Station System (BSS) and Mobile Station (MS) trackside

The radio subsystem of GSM-R consists of the MS and the BSS.

The MS is defined as the complete physical equipment of the Public Land Mobile Network (PLMN) participant. It consists of the radio communication equipment and the user interface, that is needed for the access of the PLMN services by the participant.

The BSS connects the wired part of the GSM-R network to the radio part. Using the Um radio interface, there is the possibility to switch channels of the BSS to the MS, while the A interface is switched to the NSS. Each BSS supplies a defined geographical region called 'cell' the size of which is depending on the density of participants. The BSS consists of two or three of the following functions:

The Base Transceiver Station (BTS) is representing the radio equipment of a cell that is responsible for transmission and reception of radio signals, monitoring of the radio link, and transmission of switching and signalling signal via Abis interface to BSC. For reasons of redundancy, the connection between BTS and BSC must be set up as close loop connection. Additionally the BTS must have multi-drop capabilities.

The Base Station Controller (BSC) is organising several BTS, controlling the frequency changes and the hand over procedure between cells, controlling the radio channels and the waiting queue, monitoring the radio calls and the switching based transmission procedure.

The Transcoding and Rate Adaption Unit (TRAU) is transmitting switching related and signalling data from and to MSC via A-interface, and encoding the 64 kBps data from the MSC to 16 kBps in accordance to PCM procedure standardised in CCITT G.711. The TRAU is installed at location of MSC or integrated with BSC.

4.4.3.1.2 Network Subsystem (NSS)

The NSS is representing the interface between the radio network and the wired network, so the functions performed by the NSS are switching orientated and network orientated. The components of the NSS are

- the Mobile Service switching Center (MSC)
- the Home Location Register (HLR)
- the Visitor Location Register (VLR)
- the Authentification Center (AuC) and
- the Equipment Identify Register (EIR)

The resources of MSC and VLR must support approximately 30000 participants and the resources of HLR and AuC must allow sufficient growth potential for future network concepts of DB AG.

4.4.3.1.3 Operation Subsystem (OSS)

The OSS is represented by the Operation and Maintenance Centers (OMC), that is the central installation to control and monitor the other components of the network and to monitor the quality of network services. This installation is realised as hierarchical Telecommunication Management Network (TMN), that allows the remote control of network components by operator commands.

The OMC is connected to all network components via standardised O-interface, that is an X.25 interface.

The management function of the OMC is consisting in organisation of participants, data terminal equipment, payload and statistical data collection of maintenance condition and workload of network components.

4.4.3.2 INTERFACES

GSM-R is providing the following interfaces:

- MS user interface
- Radio interface at reference point Um
- BTS MSC interface at reference point Abis
- BSS MSC interface at reference point A
- BSC/MSC OMC interface at reference point O

In addition there are the following connections:

- connection from MSC to ISDN utilising PCM systems using 2 MBps channels and signalling system CCITT Nr.7 in accordance to ETSI-ISUP
- connection from MSC to other single components of the application like movement inspector center using S2M interface and telephone voice communication using SO Interface and signalling system EDSS1

4.4.3.3 RELIABILITY

The system internal functions must be redundant. The system provider is responsible for verifiable Safety Assessment on component level.

4.4.3.4 TECHNOLOGY OF THE GSM-R TRANSMISSION SYSTEM

4.4.3.4.1 GSM-R Standard and Services

The network components are in accordance to specification of ETSI-Standard Phase 2 including actual change requests and amendment requests until 1995. GSM-R supports teleservices, bearer services and some supplementary services.

Service Name	Service Description	in accordance with	Comment
TS11	telephony	GSM Rec. 02.03	
TS12	emergency call	GSM Rec. 02.03	
TS21 SMS MT/PP	Short Message Service Mobile Terminated Point to Point	GSM Rec. 02.03	
TS22 SMS MO/PP	Short Message Service Mobile Originated Point to Point	GSM Rec. 02.03	
TS23 SMS CB	Short Message Service Cell Broadcast	GSM Rec. 02.03	
TS61	alternate Speech and Fax group 3	GSM Rec. 02.03	
TS62	Automatic Fax group 3	GSM Rec. 02.03	transparent to 03.45

TABLE 4-5: GSM-R Teleservices

Service Name	Service Description	in accordance with	Comment
BS21		GSM Rec. 02.02	optional
BS22		GSM Rec. 02.02	optional
BS23		GSM Rec. 02.02	optional
BS24	asynchronous 2.4 kBps transparent	GSM Rec. 02.02	non-transparent optional
BS25	asynchronous 4.8 kBps transparent	GSM Rec. 02.02	non-transparent optional
BS26	asynchronous 9.6 kBps transparent	GSM Rec. 02.02	non-transparent optional
BS32	synchronous 2.4 kBps transparent	GSM Rec. 02.02	
BS33	synchronous 4.8 kBps transparent	GSM Rec. 02.02	
BS34	synchronous 9.6 kBps transparent	GSM Rec. 02.02	optional

TABLE 4-6: GSM-R Bearer Service

The data service interface to ISDN or to any direct access participant is utilising a rate adaption (I.463) in MSC.

Service	Service Description	in accordance with				
Name						
Number Id	entification SS:					
CLIP	Calling Line Identification Presentation GSM Rec. 02.81					
CLIR	Calling Line Identification Restriction	GSM Rec. 02.81				
CoLP	Connected Line Identification Presentation	GSM Rec. 02.81				
CoLR	Connected Line Identification Restriction	GSM Rec. 02.81				
Call Offerin	ng SS:					
CFU	Call Forwarding Unconditional	GSM Rec. 02.82				
CFB	Call Forwarding on mobile subscriber Busy	GSM Rec. 02.82				
CFNRy	Call Forwarding on No Reply	GSM Rec. 02.82				
CFNRc	Call Forwarding on mobile subscriber Not Reachable	GSM Rec. 02.82				
Call Comp	letion SS:					
CW	Call Waiting	GSM Rec. 02.83				
HOLD	Call Hold	GSM Rec. 02.83				
Multipart	Multiparty SS	GSM Rec. 02.84				
y SS						
Communit	y of Interest SS:					
CUG	Closed User Group	GSM Rec. 02.85				
Call Restric	tion SS:					
BAOC	Barring of All Outgoing Calls	GSM Rec. 02.88				
BOIC	Barring of all Outgoing International Calls	GSM Rec. 02.88				
BOIC-	Barring of all Outgoing International Calls except those	GSM Rec. 02.88				
exHC	directed to Home Country					
BAIC	Barring of All Incoming Calls	GSM Rec. 02.88				
BIC-roam	Barring Incoming Calls when roaming outside home	GSM Rec. 02.88				
	PLMN					

TABLE 4-7: GSM-R Supplementary Services

Service Name	Service Description	in accordance with	Comment
VBS	Voice Broadcast Service	GSM Rec. 02.69	
VGCS	Voice Group Call Service	GSM Rec. 02.68	
eMLPP	Enhanced Multi-Level Precedence and Pre-emption	GSM Rec. 02.67	
GPRS	General Packet Radio Service		not standardized yet

 TABLE 4-8:
 GSM-Phase 2+/ Supplementary Features

4.4.3.4.2 Network Functions

There will be a flexible procedure for functions like communication connection, handover procedure, authentication, communication disconnection etc., to provide means for a future optimisation of the network under consideration of special railway addressing requirements as defined in project DIBMOF.

4.4.3.4.3 Radio Features

Frequencies

The uplink frequency band is defined from 876 MHz to 880 MHz, the downlink frequency band from 921 MHz to 925 MHz. These bands are divided into 19 channels of 200 kHz bandwidth each.

Transmission Power

The maximum transmission power of BTS shall be in the range from 20 W to 40 W in accordance with GSM TRX power class 5. The transmission power is related to the antenna terminal, e.g. combiner output of transmitter.

Antenna Diversity

Antenna diversity is a feature that may be required for special antenna locations. The diversity procedure shall consider the maximum ratio combining, this means that for a correlation coefficient of 0, there shall be realised a gain of 5dB in both reception trunks.

Frequency Hopping

Frequency hopping will not be realised in GSM-R

Discontinuous Transmission (DTX) / Discontinuous Reception (DRX) The DTX/DRX feature is realised in GSM-R.

Low-Noise Amplifier for Receiver Antennas

Low-Noise Amplifier will be used at special locations to adjust additional cable losses between 2 dB and 8 dB without reducing the sensitivity.

4.4.4 RADIO COMMUNICATION VIA GSM-PUBLIC

Nowadays, GSM-Public coverage exists in some railway lines to provide voice communication services to passengers travelling in the trains. This radio infrastructure can be used also to transmit maintenance related information when GSM-R or cables are not available. Data can be transmitted in two ways:

- Setting up a call for the time the data transfer will take play. Data rates up to 9600 bauds are possible. This operating mode is similar to data transmission over conventional telephone lines.
- Using the GSM signalling channel. It is not necessary to set up a call and consequently is quite more cheaper. This Short Messages Service (SMS) facility allows the transmission of blocks of data up to 160 bytes; longer messages can be transmitted splitting them into smaller blocks. This operating mode could useful for sending warnings, alarms or rather simple diagnosis information.

Commercial equipment is available at present to work in both operating modes.

4.4.5 SUMMARY

With the exception of the requirements concerning environmental conditions and data transmission distances, all commonly used fieldbus systems meet the requirements for the transfer of sensor data for condition monitoring.

The requirements concerning environmental conditions can be met by the actual installation of a fieldbus system, e.g. by using protective housings, putting cables into cable tunnels etc.

Long distance data transmission can be a problem. Possible solutions may be:

- 1. Use a layered data transmission architecture with the fieldbus system at the lower and a wide area transmission line at the higher level.
- 2. Use a fieldbus system which allows customisable physical layer media and define and install your own physical data transmission line.

GSM-R is a radio link that will offer a powerful mean for a widespread field of railway applications. And of course for the transfer of RAMS-data, independent of the distance.

Automatic Train Control for example, which is in progress of standardisation by UIC, will be implemented as European Train Control System using GSM-R as transmission media. For this application, the data to be transmitted will be encrypted for reasons of safety, what is not necessary for maintenance applications.

Another application for GSM-R is Train Radio and Train Numbering which will be realised with the standard services of the GSM-R system defined by the Tele and Bearer services.

Applications like Group Communication will require the implementation of the GSM Phase 2+ Group Call Service. This kind of service includes also all variants of Broadcast Calls, Emergency Broadcast Calls and Group Calls.

Generally GSM-R allows Train Diagnostics by using Bearer Services and normal voice communication to maintenance workers.

4.5 CONDITION MONITORING OF COMPONENTS WITH DEMONSTRATION

To guarantee the high level of reliability and safety found today in railway operations, it is necessary to keep all relevant components of infrastructure and rolling stock operational at all times. Since many components are subject to wear, frequent inspection is required, resulting in maintenance actions if necessary. The prevalent maintenance strategy used today by most railway operators relies on inspections scheduled after fixed intervals, combined with preventive maintenance, e.g. replacement of parts, to make sure that the component can operate safely at least during the following interval.

On the other hand it seems to be agreed upon that this is not always the most cost effective maintenance strategy. The reason is that inspections must always be scheduled too early, because if they are scheduled to late, availability and safety cannot be guaranteed. Since inspections, as understood here, require a certain amount of human interaction, they are usually quite expensive. In addition, since parts are maintained or even replaced best during or shortly after the inspection, the lifetime of a part is not exploited optimally.

In the long run, a lot of money can be saved, if the time between inspections can be extended without loss of availability and safety. Currently there is often no up-to-date information available about the true state of components between inspections - which is the reason for the fixed interval between inspections. If however, for critical components, some information about actual wear would always be available, the time between complete inspections could be extended and adapted to actual demand as derived from the additional information. Deriving the necessary information from critical parts requires continuous *monitoring*.

To be able to monitor a device, one or more sensors must be applied. It is the task of maintenance experts to decide which parts are most critical and which sensors are most useful for monitoring, based on *Failure Mode Effects and Criticality Analysis* (FMECA).

Since it is usually not possible to use raw sensor readings to decide whether a part is (soon) worn out or needs maintenance, *signal analysis* methods are used to extract feature vectors, thereby eliciting in a compact form information on which maintenance decisions can be based. In some cases it may turn out that only one feature is necessary. Then a decision to initiate maintenance can be based on a simple threshold. If the maintenance decisions are based on several failure classes and in particular if classes are described by certain combinations of several features derived by *signal analysis, pattern recognition* and *classification algorithms* are necessary to sort a given feature vector into its corresponding class (section 4.5.1).

Based on a list of about 30 *switch and track failures* compiled by VAE, concepts for monitoring and diagnosis of the related components are discussed in the following section 4.5.2. Some of the failures can be detected already today by the Roadmaster 2000, while the automatic early detection of others is still an open problem that has to be investigated further. For this purpose, a workshop was held at MATISA in Switzerland to discuss possible solutions with experts working in the field (cf. also report [RSTF]).

The values of measurements at a component and the allowable intervals between inspections while maintaining the necessary level of safety and availability, can sometimes be derived from a mathematical model, but it is often necessary to base

them on experience of a human expert. The section on *Expert Judgement* describes the possibilities to use expert knowledge in a formal way (section 4.5.3; [RXJH])).

4.5.1 SIGNAL ANALYSIS AND PATTERN RECOGNITION FOR MAINTENANCE DECISIONS

As already mentioned in the introduction to this section, scheduling maintenance on demand is usually more efficient than after fixed intervals. To be able to schedule on demand, the current state of a component must be known. In particular an estimation of the time until the component or a part thereof reaches its wear limit is of interest. For example at the switch, one wear limit is defined by the certain amount of grease on the switch rail chair which still allows proper functioning of the switch. With the *Roadmaster 2000*, VAE has shown that this particular wear limit can be estimated by comparing a sensor reading with a threshold. They use the force needed to move the switch rail as an indicator.

In general it is not always possible to find a sensor which measures a quantity identifying the wear limit directly. Even in the example above, non-linear effects as well as environmental effects as temperature changes or rain influence the measurement, so that the actual wear can only be approximated. Usually sensors can be found which deliver a useful indicator - somehow - but it is not the raw measured value itself. Rather the indicator must be extracted from the measured signal either in the *time-domain*, *frequency-domain* or *amplitude-domain*. If looking at the time-domain, one is interested in the development of the signal over time. If the frequency content of a signal is supposed to contain a useful indicator, the signal is transformed into the frequency domain usually by means of the Fourier Transform. If on the other hand mainly statistical features roughly independent of time are of interest, one is working in the amplitude-domain.

4.5.1.1 AMPLITUDE-DOMAIN ANALYSIS

Computation of extrema, average, standard deviation or higher order moments are the first methods that come to mind for the amplitude domain. They can be used either directly as indicators - in particular extrema and averages - but are also often used as one feature of a feature vector used for classification (see section 4.5.1.4).

More elaborate evaluations comprise counting methods like histograms or classification according to DIN 45667. The DIN-standard describes several counting methods which could be described as specialised histograms: zero crossing counting, peak counting, level crossing counting, range counting and range pair counting are some of them, to enumerate but a few. As the DIN-standard mentions, these methods are usually applied to random vibrations where methods of the frequency domain are often not applicable.

A modern extension of the amplitude classifications described in DIN 45667 is called *rainflow analysis*. It was developed to assess load-time histories. In particular it looks for the occurrence of specific "events" in a load-time trace. These events can be for example the exceedence of specific load levels, the occurrence of a load-change of certain magnitude, etc. The basis of these analysis techniques is to count the number of times, the specified events do occur.

Results of amplitude domain analysis are usually multidimensional vectors. They can be used as input to the methods described in section 4.5.1.4 to assign a (failure) class.

4.5.1.2 TIME-DOMAIN ANALYSIS

Time domain analysis looks at the signal variation over time and in contrast to amplitude domain analysis, the order in time of measured amplitudes is important.

Correlation techniques for example can be used to detect relations between two measured signals. One relation typically extracted with correlation is the shift between two signals. The shift can then be converted into a physical distance or speed. If correlation is used to compare a measured signal to a given signal, deviations from a predefined form can be detected, which is why this method could also be mentioned in section 4.5.1.4. Other examples of the application of correlation techniques include the extraction of root mean square and effective power of a signal independent of its form, and the discrimination of stochastic and periodic parts of a signal.

Instead of comparing a measured signal with a stored signal, it is often possible to come up with an analytical description with a few free parameters which describes the expected signal. The indicators used for diagnosis are then those values for the parameters which make the analytical description fit best to the measurements. Computing the parameters is called *parameter estimation*. The analytical form of the signal may either result from an elaborate model of the whole process to be observed, but in a more pragmatic approach only a signal-model is constructed, i.e. an analytical form of the signal is *made up* based on experience or example data (e.g. ARIMA-models).

If the signal of interest is actually modulated onto a carrier signal, demodulation and enveloping techniques must be used before the methods above can be applied.

4.5.1.3 FREQUENCY-DOMAIN ANALYSIS

Periodic or nearly periodic signals are best analysed in the frequency domain. In industrial applications, periodic signals accrue from rotating machines or vibrations. In general the methods described in sections 4.5.1.1 and 4.5.1.2 could also be applied in the frequency domain, but usually more specialised analysis, specifically geared towards the frequency domain is used.

Of interest in the frequency domain are for example features like height, position and/or width of peaks. If the measured signal is the result of an excitation of a linear system (either mechanic or electric) and if the excitation is known, then the transfer function can be estimated. The transfer function can be either compared with the expected transfer function, or can be used to derive features for classification.

If a system is not known to be linear, computation of coherence can be used to check whether it is or not.

Octave- and 1/3-octave-filters are defined in standard ISO R 266. They define band limits of a set of filters which are applied in situations were the filtered signal may also be recepted by humans, i.e. sound and vibrations, and where the impact on comfort is to be assessed.

Rotating machinery like combustion engines and electric motors can be monitored by measuring a signal synchronously to the rotation, i.e. instead of sampling the signal with a fixed frequency, it is sampled on a fixed angle of the rotation. If those signals are transformed into the frequency domain, peaks refer directly to parts of the rotating machinery, like e.g. cog-wheels.

REMAIN

SCIENTIFIC AND TECHNICAL DESCRIPTION

In some cases, it might even be of interest to compute the Fourier transform of a spectrum, which leads to cepstral-analysis. It helps to find periodicity in a spectrum.

4.5.1.4 PATTERN RECOGNITION AND CLASSIFICATION

Pattern recognition and classification describes the methods used to recognise patterns in signals which are typical for certain states of a monitored component. Actually the comparison of a measured value with a threshold is the most simple form of classification. Depending on the comparison, the monitored component is either in state (or in class) *faultless* or in class *faulty*. In the general case, classification involves assignment of a class not based on a single value, but on a vector the components of which are any values derived by one or more of the methods in the previous sections. Typical methods for classification rely on a set of example vectors for which the class assignment is known. In a preceding step, the examples are examined by the methods to *learn* the class assignments. By comparing a new vector with the learned data, the methods are then able to recognise the correct class. Typical classes to be recognised are the failure free state and several failure states. For maintenance planning, the failure states are of course most important.

4.5.2 TRACK AND SWITCH FAILURES AND THEIR DETECTION

The list of about 30 failures on which this investigation was based, can be subdivided into 3 groups:

- Failures that cause looseness resulting in wrong geometry.
- Malfunctioning of moving parts, as the failure of a switch motor.
- Failures due to wear of rail or frog point.

The first group is basically covered already today by measuring trains. However, they cannot yet classify the particular reason for a wrong geometry, leaving the maintenance planning clueless as to what the actual cause is. Further research must show which causes of looseness can be classified either by making better use of the signals recorded by measuring trains, or by new sensors on measuring trains, or if it is necessary to use track mounted sensors.

Concerning sensors on measuring trains, an interesting development at DB AG (*Schwachstellenerkennung*) in co-operation with IITB as well as in Japan is the transfer of sensors from measuring trains over to regular trains. A control car equipped with accelerometers is coupled to commercial RENFE AVE trains running in the Spanish high speed line to carry out regular track inspections; the data obtained is used for subsequent track maintenance works. Compared to track mounted sensors, the approach will be cheaper for operators with a large infrastructure (like DB). Moreover, the frequency of inspection correlates nicely with the frequency of use.

The second group, malfunctioning moving parts, is probably no candidate for inspection by fast running measuring or regular trains. Sensors close to the place where the energy or force which moves the part is evident are most useful.

For the third group, further research is necessary in every single case to devise methods for wear detection. Image analysis methods as well as acoustic methods, either employed fixed near the track or on measuring trains are candidates.

It has been judged as a valuable input to further efforts to make at least a proposal for the detection of each of the failures (cf. [RSTF]). It has to be observed that in condition monitoring not a general methodology can be applied to all failures, but only case specific tools promise success.

4.5.3 Use of Expert Judgement in Rams Analyses

4.5.3.1 THE NEED FOR EXPERT JUDGEMENT

Many of today systems are designed to such high reliability standards that failure data are difficult to obtain. Also, in the field of human reliability the human errors are rarely collected and registered in any error data bases. So in various fields like nuclear energy, process industry, railway and aerospace the reliability/maintenance/safety analysts often have to utilise expert judgements as input to quantitative analyses.

The expert judgements have been criticised for being used in a rather ad hoc/unsystematic manner. However, it should be kept in mind that RAMS analyses are undertaken because a decision has to be made. If the analysis cannot be based on field data then the knowledge have to be sought elsewhere, and the most obvious source is the people having experience within the relevant field. Further, during the last few years, a large amount of literature has appeared, providing a sound basis for the application of expert judgements. This literature has been worked through and a "Handbook on performing expert judgement" [RXJH] has bee compiled. In the next paragraph only the general methodology is outlined, but in the handbook an illustrative example and details may be studied.

4.5.3.2 MAIN STEPS OF THE EXPERT JUDGEMENT PROCESS

The three main steps for utilising expert judgements are

- 1. Preparation
 - i Choosing experts
 - ii Defining the questions
- 2. Elicitation
 - Performing the interview
- 3. Calculation
 - i. Evaluation

In the evaluation phase each experts answers are evaluated and usually they are given a weight depending on the goodness of their answers. This can then be used in the combination phase by letting the final estimate depend more on the judgements of the best experts.

ii. Combination (aggregation)

Depending on the evaluation the estimates are combined (weighted) in order to achieve one single result; the overall estimate and confidence bounds.

4.5.3.3 OVERALL RECOMMENDATIONS ON UTILISING EXPERT JUDGEMENT

Overall requirements for the process of utilising expert judgements have been discussed in the literature. Such requirements should relate to the following five topics

1) Documentation

Thorough documentation is fundamental in order to make the analysis credible. All assumptions and decisions made by the analyst must be stated, including documentation of the elicitation process.

2) Objectivity

Objectivity should be a goal, and not something that can be guaranteed. Expert judgement is by nature subjective and the main criticism is directed toward this. Honesty of the expert is essential in order to achieve objectivity. Motivational bias can be difficult to reveal and control. The analyst must be aware of the danger of subjectivity, and objectivity is required when performing and documenting the expert judgement process.

3) Empirical Control

Empirical control (verification/checking) of the expert judgements may take a very long time. Thus, it could be a problem that some experts feel that exact knowledge will not become available within reasonable time, and thus he may be tempted to make precise statements, when actually he is rather uncertain about the issue.

4) Completeness

Requirements on completeness are demanding but necessary, in order to achieve credible results. The analyst should use experts with different professional background (operators, designers, maintenance personnel etc.) in order to cover all relevant aspects. This is particularly important if there is potential controversy involved.

5) Simplicity

The approach and the models should be simple in order to establish a competitive alternative to engineering judgement. This is also a question of costs.

Requirements on the topics 1) to 4) are needed for achieving scientific credibility. Simplicity (5) is needed for having a practicable approach that can gain widespread use.

There will be some obvious conflicts between various requirements of the topics 1)-5). For instance, simplicity could be in conflict to completeness and empirical control. The same is true for requirements on completeness and objectivity. Actually there could be a danger of overemphasising requirements of objectivity on the expense of completeness. After all, there is always an element of subjectivity in applied science (e.g. on model specification and result interpretation). When it comes to such conflicts, it is recommended to give top priority to completeness (*Get as much objective knowledge as possible out of the available experts*). Further, there is a fundamental need of documentation (*Document all steps of analysis*).

4.5.4 SUMMARY

In this section classes of tools and methods of information processing have been considered that are necessary to describe the current state of a component as

REMAIN

SCIENTIFIC AND TECHNICAL DESCRIPTION

accurately as possible. Based on selected sensor information, inspections and maintenance actions can be scheduled as late as possible, but early enough to guarantee the necessary level of safety and availability. Tools available for feature (or indicator) extraction belong to the amplitude-, time- or frequency-domain and consecutive methods of pattern recognition use these features for classification into states.

In favour of the collection of proposals for the detection of switch and track failures not detectable nowadays, methods for signal analysis and pattern recognition have not been described in detail, but should be studied in literature.

In practice it will often be necessary to base condition monitoring on data not derived from objective measurements but on subjective experience of human experts. To make this procedure as reliable as possible, a structured process for the introduction of expert knowledge has been developed, which is described in detail in [RXJH]. Data emerging from experts should not replace operational data, but its use according to the recommendations above will be a valuable supplement to data measured during operation and they will give essential information when operational data are not available.

4.6 REMAIN METHODOLOGY – BUILDING BLOCKS AND EXEMPLARY APPLICATIONS

As established in section 4.1, the user requirements for railway companies are:

- the introduction of condition monitoring methods (see section 4.5) and/or
- a systematic method for maintenance planning, called Reliability Centred Maintenance (RCM) (see below).

But before introducing anything new – even only a change in inspection – it has to be verified that this change infers "no reduction in safety level". Therefore the first step of the REMAIN methodology represents a safety analysis method based on change analysis, i. e. identification of changes in safety to be expected for a planned system. This methodology, described in section 4.6.1, should be applied before performing LCC analysis, which makes sense, if the outcomes of the safety analysis are positive.

LCC analysis (section 4.6.2) is used to verify the anticipated cost reductions of CON and/or RCM methods. It is described together with the underlying model assumptions and the result of an analysis for the turnouts in the demonstrator project. In this analysis a whole system (turnout) is evaluated that consists of several sensors and condition monitoring strategies.

The subsequent RCM analysis (section 4.6.3) might result in a recommendation to use specific CON-methods. However, in the RCM analysis, the decision on whether CON-methods shall be applied, will normally *not* include the considerations of new not yet tested technology. Only CON-methods that are tested and known (to the analysts) will be considered during an RCM-analysis. Thus, the development and testing of new condition monitoring methods is not a part of a standard RCM analysis, and so the cost benefits should be split between the two major means: introduction of promising CON-methods and use of RCM.

The effect of introducing CON methods and/or RCM for a given system/equipment is based on two main conditions. One is of "organisational" nature and concerns the appropriateness of the current preventive maintenance (PM) program. The second condition concerns the available technology of utilising CON-methods (or more CON-methods if some are already in use). A conceptual picture of these two factors is given in Figure 4-11. The achievements (i.e. cost reductions of *CON* and *RCM*) are here given *relative* to the cost of the *present* situation (which is here given as a fixed value for all four cases).

The application in the REMAIN-project (i.e., turnouts of DB AG) corresponds to the situation of the bottom right corner of Figure 4-11. Presently, rather little CON-equipment has been installed on turnouts, giving a high potential for cost reduction by introducing CON-methods. Contrary to this, the PM program of existing systems like turnouts has been "tuned" for decades, and in this situation the potential benefit of carrying out an RCM-analysis is relatively small compared to CON-methods. The benefits of performing an RCM-analysis are much higher for new systems and for new railway organisations.

It has been beneficial for the REMAIN-project that one of the partners possesses specific knowledge on CON-methods, in particular for turnouts (i.e. the VAE Roadmaster 2000 system), so that this knowledge was available prior to performing the RCM-analysis.

The LCC method is applied to turnouts of a high speed line (section 4.6.2), and the method for maintenance planning with integrated LCC analysis is applied to a conventional line (section 4.6.3). In particular, the contribution of the *delay time* to cost reduction is found to vary considerably in these two cases, due to differences in the companies' present situation (i.e. level of delay problems).



FIGURE 4-11: Effect on cost reduction of introducing CON-methods and RCM based on technical feasibility of CON-techniques and efficiency of current PMprogram

4.6.1 SAFETY ANALYSIS FOR A PLANNED SYSTEM

The goal of the Remain project is to help the railway companies to meet the future demands regarding cost efficiency, without sacrificing safety. Thus, the main question regarding safety is formulated as follows:

How will measures to reduce costs (both maintenance and delay time costs) affect the safety?

To be able to answer this question we have developed a *change analysis method*. This is a rough, qualitative method, used to evaluate any effect on safety by introducing condition monitoring equipment for railway components (and thereby changing the PM of the component).

This method will be an aid to assure that achievable cost reduction, e.g. by the use of condition monitoring equipment, has no (overall) negative effect on safety.

Why change is important to analyse may be emphasised by the following statement:

Change is the mother of twins: progress and trouble.

Further, it is recognised that

if a system has been operating in a stable manner, but now has troubles, change is the cause of the problem. This proposition almost amounts to a truism; that is, there are no problems if there are no changes.

The change analysis method developed here is especially adapted for use in the Remain project, and it is denoted the Remain Change Analysis Method (RCAM).

The method is illustrated in Figure 4-12, and its use is outlined below.



FIGURE 4-12: The Remain Change Analysis Method

For each component and each failure mode, which e.g. the Roadmaster 2000 system is intended to detect, we compare

- the "new situation", based on Roadmaster being implemented, and
- the present situation, based on manual inspection.

For each maintenance task an evaluation is performed with respect to the following possible *effects*

- change in the frequency of the task,
- change in the duration of the task,
- change in the time of the day the task is carried out, and

REMAIN

SCIENTIFIC AND TECHNICAL DESCRIPTION

- change in the probability of introducing errors during this task (i.e. maintenance induced errors) is changed.

For each of these effects, there is also performed an evaluation on whether the safety is affected by the change. These effects are categorised into three classes: 'increased safety', 'reduced safety' or 'no changes in safety'. This evaluation is carried out for each task and each effect. Finally an overall evaluation of change in safety is given for the given component and failure mode. This change analysis method is described in [RSFA].

In addition to this change analysis method, [RSFA] presents a suite of methods for task analysis and human reliability analysis, to support the prevention of human errors. The following methods are covered:

- Goals-Means Task Analysis, which determines which subtasks are required to meet the overall objectives of a task.
- Operations Sequence Diagramming, which identifies the necessary sequencing of task steps and the allocation of the task steps to individuals.
- *Task Features Description*, which identifies cues, feedback and other characteristics of each task step.
- Action Error Mode Analysis, which identifies possible human errors, consequences, barriers and preventive measures connected to each task.

4.6.2 ECONOMIC EVALUATION USING THE LCC MODEL

It has been one objective of the REMAIN project to

 Provide a simple LCC model to be used in the overall economic evaluation of railway equipment, with focus on the possibility of making cost comparisons of different options.

In general, an LCC model provides a cost breakdown according to

- Cost category ("who"): The cost category of applicable resources such as labour, materials, fuel/energy, overhead, transportation/travel, etc.
- Product/work ("what"): Breakdown of the product to lower indenture levels.
- Life cycle phase ("when"): The time in the life cycle when the work/activity is to be performed.

In the LCC model developed in the REMAIN project there is a focus on cost category breakdown. The method is exemplified by evaluating the cost effectiveness of including condition monitoring equipment for turnouts. The sensitivity of the results with respect to various input parameters is discussed, also giving some guidelines for assessing the validity of the conclusions with respect to cost efficiency. The general LCC approach is outlined in the following, whereas details are to be found in [RLCC].

4.6.2.1 LCC MODEL

The LCC model for railway applications developed in REMAIN introduces the following cost categories

- Investment Cost
- Maintenance and Operating Cost
- Delay Cost (unavailability costs related to trains being delayed)

Hazard Cost (costs related to hazardous/accidental events)



FIGURE 4-13: LCC breakdown into cost categories

Hence the total LCC equals

 $LCC = Cost_{INVESTMENT} + Cost_{MAINTENANCE} + Cost_{DELAY} + Cost_{HAZARD}$

Or, in the notation of Figure 4-13:

LCC = INV + MAIN + DEL + HAZ

By introducing the notation

m = number of years in operation

k = annual rate of return = interest rate - rate of inflation

AIC = annual investment costs

AMC = annual maintenance and operation costs

ADC = annual delay costs

AHC = annual hazard costs

we obtain the following expression for the annual LCC

$LCC_{ANNUAL} = INV \times k / [1 - (1+k)^{m}] + [AMC + ADC + AHC]$

This expression is applicable for comparison of two concepts, also when the two concepts have *different* lifetimes (i.e. different values of *m*). Observe that disposal and reinvestment costs are not incorporated in the above formulas.

Also DB AG is presently developing an LCC model, and based on comments from DB AG it is observed that

- The DB AG approach includes a data base for providing detailed data to the model. The REMAIN approach suggests a flexible method for data collection, applying a questionnaire that allows data to be provided at various levels of detail (i.e. adapting data collection to the resources available and to the requested accuracy of results).
- The REMAIN LCC model is simpler than the DB AG model, e.g. as
 - The discount factor can vary in the DB model, but is constant throughout the lifetime in the REMAIN model.
 - In the DB model maintenance plan might vary during the life cycle, and all yearly costs during operation might change from one year to another. In the REMAIN model yearly costs (maintenance, operation etc) are constant.
 - The REMAIN model is also somewhat simpler in its focus on *comparison* between two options. The main objective is rather to provide reasonable estimates of *cost difference* (for use as decision support), and is not aiming at obtaining very accurate total cost estimates.
 - The REMAIN approach focuses on *annual* LCC, and is also able to handle the possibility that the number of years in operation (*m*) might differ for the two options.
- Contrary to the DB AG model, the LCC model of REMAIN includes *Hazard* costs. The inclusion of hazard costs is somewhat untraditional. However, for a fair comparison of two options it is judged essential to have the safety in mind (also as costs are concerned).

The practical use/experience with LCC analysis for railway companies is rather sparse. However the Swedish State Railway has reported their experience with LCC in the acquisition of the high speed train X2000. They incorporated LCC analyses also in the contractual work, and follow up to verify reliability and availability. Main points of this experience are referred to in [RLCC] (The analysis of hazard costs cannot replace the safety analysis of the preceding chapter. Hazard costs cover some gross aspects of safety only. To take into account e.g. the risk of maintenance personnel, a dedicated method like the change analysis method has to be utilised).

4.6.2.2 APPLICATION OF THE LCC MODEL

The LCC model is applied to turnout data for an existing *high speed line* (these turnouts are denoted the reference system, *REFSYS*). Further, cost *differences* by the introduction of R2000 are estimated, resulting in predicted LCC for the same set of turnouts *with* condition monitoring equipment (denoted *CONSYS*). The main data are summarised in Table 4-9.

Cost element		Annual cost	Annual cost			
Code	Description	REFSYS	ΔSYS	CONSYS		
AIC	Annual Investment Cost	8 000	+ 1 500	9 500		
АМС	Annual Maintenance and Operating Cost	8 700	- 3 000	5 700		
ADC	Annual Delay Cost	200	0	200		
АНС	Annual Hazard Cost	100	0	100		
LCC _{ANNUAL}	Annual Life Cycle Cost	17 000	- 1 500	15 500		
TABLE 4-9:	Annual Life Cycle Cost (ECU)					

The cost data in Table 4-9 are based on the following inputs

m = number of years in operation for turnout = 30 (both for REFSYS and CONSYS)

k = annual rate of return = 4.5%

In addition, annual LCC is also calculated for CONSYS, assuming that the lifetime is extended to m = 40 years. In total this gives the following annual life cycle costs:

REFSYS (m= 30 years):

*LCC*_{ANNUAL} = 8 000 + 8 700 + 200 + 100 = **17 000 ECU**

CONSYS (m = 30 years):

*LCC*_{ANNUAL} = 9 500 + 5 700 + 200 + 100 = **15 500 ECU**

CONSYS (m = 40 years):

*L*CC_{ANNUAL} = 8 400 + 5 700 + 200 + 100 = **14 400 ECU**

This is also summarised in Figure 4-14. By comparing this with the general presentation of LCC in Figure 4-13, there is below *one* column giving the present costs, *two* alternative columns giving the annual LCC when condition monitoring is included, and *no* column giving the further reduction when an RCM analysis is carried out. The reduction in maintenance costs in this case makes it cost effective to invest in condition monitoring equipment. This true also when the lifetime, *m*, is not increased by introducing condition monitoring, but the reduction in annual LCC is of course larger if *m* increases to 40 years. Observe that according to the data presented here the annual delay and hazard costs (*ADC* and *AHC*) do not significantly affect the comparison, cf. also next section.



FIGURE 4-14: Annual LCC for reference system (turnout without R2000) and for turnout with R2000 (high speed line)

4.6.3 Optimisation through strategic Maintenance Planning

The main objectives of strategic maintenance planning are to identify relevant maintenance actions, evaluate the cost benefit of preventive maintenance (PM) actions, and to ensure that the PM actions are implemented as intended.

For the purpose of Reliability Centred Maintenance (RCM) a method for Strategic Maintenance Planning (RESMAP) has been developed in REMAIN. The decision logic of RCM represents a corner stone of this method (cf. section 4.6.3.3 below). Also note that the new method explicitly utilises Life Cycle Cost (LCC) analysis, which is not common in traditional RCM analyses.

The RESMAP method comprises the following main steps:

- 1. Study preparation
- 2. System selection and definition
- 3. Extended FMECA analysis
- 4. Preliminary LCC analysis
- 5. Systematic RCM decision logic
- 6. Determination of Maintenance Intervals and CON limits
- 7. Collecting maintenance tasks into maintenance packages
- 8. Updated LCC analysis
- 9. Implementation

Each step of the RESMAP method is described in [RSMP]. There some of the steps are further exemplified with data from the test line Dortmund-Hamm, where condition monitoring techniques have been implemented by the Roadmaster 2000 system. Note that this is a conventional line, giving LCC values that differs significantly from those of

the high speed line, used as an example in section 4.6.3. Some "highlights" of the RESMAP method are presented below.

4.6.3.1 FAILURE CAUSE ANALYSIS

In order to identify relevant preventive maintenance actions it is crucial to have a good understanding of failure causes and mechanisms. Failure causes and mechanisms are revealed in a Failure Mode, Effect and Criticality Analysis (FMECA). To support this task we have defined four categories of failure progression as shown in Figure 4-15

- 1. The component is subject to gradual degradation, which might be observed (by suitable equipment).
- 2. The component is subject to gradual degradation, which can not be observed.
- 3. The component is subject to a rather "sudden" degradation, which can be observed by suitable equipment.
- 4. The component is subject to a sudden degradation ("shock"), immediately leading to a failure.

This classification serves as a tool for communication between the analyst and the PM experts, and has proven to be very helpful in order to arrive at a common understanding between the analyst ("theoretician") and the expert ("practitioner"). It is particularly useful when reliability parameters are assessed, as these parameters have different interpretations for the four categories of failure progression illustrated in Figure 4-15.

REMAIN

Scientific and Technical Description



4.6.3.2 EXTENDED FMECA ANALYSIS

Failure modes, effects and criticality analysis (FMECA) is a widely used technique in most reliability and maintenance analyses. The strength of the technique is the systematic work to identify the failure modes, and the causes and effects of these. Each component of the system is analysed, and its failure modes are identified. In the current analysis we have extended the traditional FMECA, as there is also made an attempt to assess to what extent a specific Roadmaster 2000 sensor will reduce the failure rate of affected components ([RSMP]). This information is used to make a preliminary assessment of the cost efficiency of each sensor.

4.6.3.3 RELIABILITY CENTRED MAINTENANCE

The RCM methodology provides systematic considerations of system functions and the way functions can fail. It identifies applicable and effective PM tasks, based on considerations on safety and cost. The RCM decision logic (see Figure 4-16) is an essential element of the RCM analysis. This decision logic is also adopted in the RESMAP methodology.





The decision logic is used to guide the analyst through a question-and-answer process, to arrive at the most appropriate *type* of maintenance for the component. The input to this RCM decision logic are the dominant failure modes, as obtained from the FMECA analysis of the component.

4.6.3.4 THE LENGTH OF INTERVALS BETWEEN PM

When the *type* of maintenance for a particular failure mode is determined by the RCMdecision logic, the next step is to determine the amount of maintenance to carry out. In [RSMP] some mathematical models for cost optimisation are presented, and examples from the demonstrator line are worked out.

4.6.3.5 RESULTS OF EXAMPLE ANALYSES

In general the RESMAP analyses show that the current maintenance program is rather well "tuned". The analyses recommend changing some inspection intervals, giving rather marginal reductions in cost. The analyses also show that some of the sensors in the Roadmaster 2000 system seem superfluous, i.e. they do not prove to be cost efficient.

In Figure 4-17 we have summarised the annual contribution to the LCC for various options with respect to inclusion of Roadmaster 2000 sensors. These data are obtained for a conventional line. In this figure the "Present" bar represents the annual LCC prior to installation of Roadmaster 2000. This is the "baseline" system, representing the period prior to the introduction of Roadmaster 2000 (in 1997).

The "R2000" bars represent the cost when Roadmaster 2000 is installed as today. The "Opt. R2000" bars represents an optimised version of Roadmaster 2000, where some of the sensors are omitted from the installation in order to minimise annual LCC. For each of these two options there have been performed two different LCC calculations (representing a sensitivity analysis). The calculation labelled "Disf" is based on

assumptions (about service lifes etc) that are in disfavour of Roadmaster 2000, whereas the calculations labelled "Favour" are based on assumptions being more favourable for Roadmaster 2000.

So in the illustration of Figure 4-17 there are four columns that refer to the introduction of condition monitoring, and *one* column that illustrates the cost prior to introduction of R2000. Thus, the possible further reduction in LCC by using RCM analysis is not illustrated here (cf. [RSMP]).



FIGURE 4-17: Summary of LCC results (conventional line)

List of Acronyms:

AIC	Annual Investment Cost (i.e. split on total life cycle)
ADC	Annual Delay costs
АНС	Annual Hazard Costs
AMC	Annual Maintenance and Operating Cost
CON	Condition Monitoring
DB AG	Deutsche Bahn AG
DEL	Delay Cost (over life cycle)
FMECA	Failure Modes, Effects and Criticality Analysis
HAZ	Hazard Cost (over life cycle)
INV	Investment cost of the system or equipment/product
k	Annual rate of return (interest rate minus rate of inflation)
LCC	Life Cycle Cost
--------	--
m	The number of years in operation
PM	Preventive Maintenance
RAMS	Reliability, Availability, Maintainability and Safety
RCAM	Remain Change Analysis Method
RCM	Reliability Centred Maintenance
REMAIN	Modular System for Reliability and Maintainability Management in European Rail Transport
RESMAP	Remain method for Strategic Maintenance Planning
R2000	Roadmaster 2000

4.6.4 SUMMARY

In this section the building blocks of the REMAIN methodology have been explained. They mainly consist of three parts:

- 1) Safety analyses for a planned system
- 2) Economic evaluation of the system using the LCC model
- 3) Its optimisation through strategic maintenance planning

1) The *safety analysis* is based on the analysis on the effects on the safety of the new system, that demands changes in maintenance. Normally maintenance consists of several tasks and for each task an evaluation is performed with respect to the following changes

- change in the frequency of the task
- change in the duration of the task
- change in the time of the day the task is performed
- change in the probability of introducing maintenance induced errors

The effects of changes are classified into the three classes

- increased safety
- reduced safety
- unchanged safety.

By summation over all effects an overall estimation of the change in safety for the new system is derived. [RSFA] explains the procedure in more detail and gives several other approaches to safety analyses.

2) The developed LCC model for railway applications uses costs in the four categories

- investment
- maintenance and operation
- delay and
- hazard.

The somewhat untraditional inclusion of hazard costs is judged essential for a fair comparison of two options. The LCC model of REMAIN focuses on annual cost and therefore it can handle the situation that the number of years in operation for two options to be analysed is different.

Exemplary applications to data from a turnout installed in a high speed line without and with condition monitoring (Roadmaster 2000) gave annual LCC cost of 17.000 ECU without and 14.400 ECU with monitoring (assuming a lifetime of 40 years). Again, more information can be found in [RLCC].

3) For the purpose of Reliability Centred Maintenance (RCM), a method for strategic maintenance planning, called RESMAP, has been developed. It comprises 9 consecutive steps, which are outlined in [RSMP] with illustrating examples from demonstrator test line Dortmund - Hamm.

The most important steps in RESMAP are

- Failure cause analysis
- Extended FMECA analysis
- Application of the RCM decision logic for the selection of appropriate maintenance types
- Determination of necessary maintenance intervals
- LCC Analysis

The results for the demonstrator, which is a conventional line, show that the current maintenance programme (due to extensive experience) is rather well and only marginal changes can be recommended. But possible changes through the introduction of condition monitoring with Roadmaster 2000 result for the analysed conventional line type in a reduction of LCC costs by a factor of 2.

4.7 PROPOSAL OF A MODULAR SYSTEM ARCHITECTURE

The constituent building blocks of the REMAIN methodology have been described in the previous section. Here the architecture of a software system will be developed, that supports the co-operation and interaction between those modules and thus facilitates and promotes the introduction and implementation of the REMAIN methodology in railway organisations.

The functional blocks addressed

- data acquisition, storage, and retrieval,
- monitoring of components,
- state prediction for components,
- communication of data and information,
- safety analyses,
- economic evaluation and optimisation,

shall be integrated into a comprehensive software system for reliability and maintainability management. As organisational structures vary in European railway companies, a modular, distributable and configurable architecture shall be designed.

Figure 4-18 shows a basic outline of the functional components and their connection.



FIGURE 4-18: Functional components of the modular REMAIN system

4.7.1 ARCHITECTURAL FRAMEWORK

As starting point, a basic framework of the system architecture was elaborated.

The essential functional components have been identified, the expected needs for interaction have been described and basic solutions how to build up a system were developed:

The system must meet general requirements as

- Openness: Railway companies today already use a variety of software tools in different areas concerning maintenance. The system architecture therefore must support the integration of tools actually in use.
- *Extensibility*: The system shall allow to integrate hardware components as well as new software modules to guarantee future usability.
- Adaptability and configurability: European railway companies differ in many ways: size, equipment, organisational structures. Companies may want to use particular parts of the functions offered.
- Modularity: Only a system that is composed of neatly structured modules will be able to fulfil the above requirements.

The main functional system components were identified as follows:

Field data acquisition: To allow condition monitoring, the appropriate data describing the state of components must be available. Field data can be collected by human operators, or by sensors.

Component analysis: This module deals with the evaluation and interpretation of data referring to individual components of the equipment. To fulfil this task, a multitude of tools and methods is used, including signal analysis, pattern recognition, dependability prediction, etc.

System level analyses: On system level not only individual components are considered, but the enclosing system as a whole. Methods used concern cost analyses, as LCC analyses, maintenance planning, and safety analyses.

To implement this functionality, supporting functional modules are required:

Communication system: The integration of the system modules requires data exchange between particular components. Thus, the need for an appropriate communication infrastructure is obvious.

Databases: Databases are necessary to store the data produced and processed within the system. Databases can be used locally for storing proprietary or temporary data on the one hand, and shared by multiple users on the other hand. A central database may be physically distributed among different locations.

These components constitute a basic system model with the functional modules grouped around a central database. Local databases with the system modules may be included to keep local information.

4.7.2 System Distribution and Tool Integration

According to the organisational structures of railway companies, system modules may be distributed over different locations. Building such a distributed system can be significantly facilitated by an integration platform. The integration platform provides mechanisms to establish communication between the system modules, independent of underlying hardware platforms and operating systems

The implementation of the modules will involve many (software) tools, e.g. various numerical algorithms used for signal analysis and pattern recognition. Tools may either be available on the market or they have been previously developed by or for railways. Often those tools have been developed to run on particular platforms. In general, it is

not an easy task to integrate such tools into a software system. Integration platforms therefore should support the integration of legacy software.

Integration platforms, widely known as middleware, which are available today, have been investigated. The Common Object Request Broker Architecture (CORBA) revealed to be the most promising system for implementation of distributed interactive systems as well as for the integration of legacy applications.

The main reasons for this judgement are: CORBA is an international standard; CORBA offers a wide range of features supporting development, integration, and execution of distributed applications; CORBA system implementations are available for nearly all hardware platforms and operating systems; CORBA supports the definition of interfaces through the interface definition language (IDL) and thus offers a systematic approach towards the integration of legacy software.

Integration of available evaluation tools, as signal analysis and pattern recognition algorithms, is necessary to implement efficient condition monitoring procedures at reasonable cost. Close interaction of distributed functions is required monitoring the equipment to assure prompt reaction on detected failures. The CORBA architecture provides suitable methods to achieve both tasks. A trial implementation performed in the project has confirmed the feasibility of this approach.

4.7.3 INTEGRATION OF THE REMAIN MODULES

In the architectural framework, the main functional components were identified and possible interactions were outlined. With further progress of the project, it became clear, that substantial interconnection between the functional modules is built on the data and information they operate on.

On monitoring level, raw field data are collected from sensors. These data may provide information relevant for maintenance that can be derived directly (e. g. by comparison to a threshold). However, often a broad basis of raw data, collected over a reasonable amount of time, is needed to derive relevant information on the status of a component. The status information then, collected over the lifetime of an equipment component, serves as a basis for reliability analyses and - together with information on executed maintenance actions - for cost calculations and long term maintenance planning.

Cost calculations, however, do not only rely on information provided by or derived from data generated within condition monitoring and maintenance procedures. They also need information from other sources, as investment costs, interest rates, man-hour costs or purchase costs and storage expenses of spare parts. These data in general are available in a railway organisation, but often are scattered over various organisational units and stored in different computer systems.

Thus the procurement of relevant information is crucial for the management of maintainability and reliability. Efficient methods to find and to access the information therefore are prerequisites for a successful implementation of the REMAIN methodology.

In the following, the architecture of an information system is proposed that forms a part of the reliability and maintainability management system. The information system will

• connect the functional modules providing a common view on the data basis

REMAIN

Scientific and Technical Description

- assist to access information produced outside the RAMS domain
- provide mechanisms to expand the information base beyond the boundaries of a single organisation



4.7.3.1 INFORMATION SYSTEM

4.7.3.1.1 Application Cases

The following examples demonstrate how the information system can be used to support tasks of reliability and maintainability management.

Component State Analyses

Signal analysis and pattern recognition methods may raise the need to store a great amount of data, raw sensor data as well as intermediate results. In normal operation, these data are not used for high - level evaluations, so that it is not efficient to store those data in a central database. But detailed analysis of raw data may be necessary in case of unexpected failures and development of enhanced or additional algorithms to cover new requirements is only possible with original data, typically raw sensor data.

The information system will allow storing raw data and intermediate results in separate databases close to the data acquisition and the basic evaluation. These local databases then will be linked to the information system, and the data may be accessed when required.

Thus the information system will support the enhancement of CON methods and, more general, allow development of procedures and tools based on real life data without interfering with daily operation. Moreover, it will enable provision of results for test and verification.

Global Database

A global common railway database will give each railway company access to (anonymous) data from other railway companies. The main objectives for such a database are:

- to extend the experience base,
- to compare reliability of various models
- to give feedback to equipment vendors.

In spite of the advantages of a global database, it must be expected that technical, organisational or legal obstacles as well as matters of competition will prevent the establishment of such a database in the next future.

The information system can be used to implement a practical step into this direction. The concept includes the possibility to provide information in such a manner that the data stay under control of the owner. The provider of the information shall be able to decide, which of the participants in the information system are entitled to access the information.

This concept will help to overcome reservations that are expected to exist with possible information providers against a real global database.

Access to the REMAIN Database

In general, to extract information from a database system, a user needs knowledge not only on the content, but also on the internal structure and organisation of the database. Integrating the database into the information system would provide to the user a unique interface. Frequently used queries and evaluation programs are stored in the information base and executed upon request.

Direct access to the REMAIN data base of course shall not be prevented and will be necessary to allow for more sophisticated evaluation.

Co-operation of Expert Groups

Various tasks of maintenance management may raise a need for co-operation. Ad-hoc groups may be useful to solve actual problems. The REMAIN methodology incorporates a systematic approach how to perform expert judgements in cases where sufficient statistical data to base a decision on are not available.

In general, costs arising in connection with co-operation of (expert) groups can be reduced if adequate means are available to support the process. In particular, the experts should be relieved from the necessity to perform their tasks at he same location and at the same time.

The information system provides such means. For example, to perform remote expert judgement sessions, the analyst would provide the questionnaire in the information system. The experts then, independent of each other, fill in the questionnaire and insert the answers in the appropriate subdivision of the information base, where the analyst can read and evaluate the answers.

By means of access control, the mode of co-operation can be controlled. If strictly independent answers are required, only the analyst will be allowed to see the answers. On the other hand, group members may be entitled to read and annotate the contributions of their colleagues, if a common voting of the group is desired.

4.7.3.1.2 System Requirements

Flexibility and Adaptability: The information system is based on an open concept, widely independent of special applications. Considering organisational structures of European railway companies, it is necessary that the information System can be accessed from numerous geographically distributed places. Adaptation to changes in geographical distribution as well as to restructuring of the organisation must be feasible with limited effort.

Modularity and Scalability: The various fields of application for information systems in reliability and maintainability management require different degrees of functionality. Each organisation may decide to implement specific functions individually or in any combination. Thus the system must be scaleable, not only with respect to size (number of users, amount of data to be handled) but also with respect to varying demands of functionality.

Management of Information

The system will have to handle very different kinds of information: raw sensor data, intermediate results of evaluation algorithms, inspection and failure reports as well as the results of condition monitoring and state prediction; descriptions of equipment and many other types of information used in the field of reliability management. The variety of information types can not be foreseen when the system is implemented, therefore the information management must be conceptually independent of particular information types.

In addition to information handled in the information system, a possibility is required to integrate heterogeneous and distributed data collections, which exist with the users. The integration shall be achieved without alteration of these 'local' data; the data management and the responsibility shall stay with the owner and shall not depend on the information system. This principle will be used to make available data from autonomous subsystems, that implement their own data management, as e.g. the Roadmaster 2000 monitoring system.

Each participant shall have the possibility to decide how he handles his data and which part of them he will make visible to which other participant. The autonomy of local data collections is a prerequisite for information providers outside the organisation to participate in the system and to provide useful information.

The variety of information types, local data collections and inclusion of external information sources raises the need for a description of the information that must be handled by the system in addition to the information itself. The description in general consists of a set of attributes, denoted as *metadata* (as opposed to data, which are constituent parts of the information).

Keywords are used to further describe the information content. Keywords are descriptive attributes that are assigned to the information by the originator.

Information Provision and Retrieval

The information system must support adequate mechanisms to enable a user to find desired information and to provide information to the system and its participants.

Two different approaches to retrieve information shall be considered. One will support an experienced user, which is acquainted to the system and has certain knowledge about the wanted information. Then a dedicated search can be performed, based on attributes associated with the information (e.g. originator, date) or based on keywords.

If the user is less experienced or has only rough knowledge about the information he is looking for, a structured approach will be more suitable. The user then will be guided through a structured register; thus moving from a global view on the information to increasingly detailed selections.

The latter approach requires an underlying structure of the information base. A hierarchical structure, comparable to the structure of a book or catalogue, or the directory structure in a file system, seems to be most adequate to support this procedure.

Consequently, when a user provides information to the system, he has to select the appropriate place in the catalogue structure. Provision of information may involve creation or change of sub-trees in the structure.

Access Control

The system will have to handle information intended to serve a variety of purposes. Certain information may be targeted to the public (all users), other to the employees in a department or to specialists within a technical domain. Access control shall assure that information in the system is visible only to the targeted users.

4.7.3.1.3 Realisation Approach

The requirements can be met best if the system is built from standardised components.

Considering this and taking into account the requirements in functionality and the technologies available today, the most promising approach is to base the information system on technologies used in Internet and World Wide Web.

Utilising Internet technology does not necessarily mean to use the Internet itself for communication and data transfer. Corporate networks also can rely on Internet communication protocols and provide the respective services within an enterprise.

Building an application on Web technologies in general offers a number of advantages: The basic technology has proven its reliability since decades of world-wide use. Standardised interfaces allow to add functionality. Web clients as well as web servers are available for the great majority of hardware platforms and operating systems. Client software, if required for special applications, can be kept and maintained at the server and downloaded to the client. Web browsers are commercially available at considerably low licence fees. In many cases today they are already installed in corporate networks, so no additional investments are necessary to install end user systems. Internet/intranet technologies are rapidly developing, users can benefit from new developments without considerable risks.

Web technologies offer a number of useful features to build information systems:

- The hypertext concept creates a basic mechanism to link information.
- HTML is a standardised language to describe documents that can be interpreted and viewed by browsers, independent of operating systems and hardware platforms.
- Standardised mechanisms are available to extend the functionality. In particular this is valid concerning access to databases.

Enhancements of the web functionality are necessary to arrive at an information system that combines the web principles with structured access to information and possibilities for a dedicated search. The catalogue structure, that changes dynamically during the lifetime of the system, must be maintained. Functions that support provision and

Scientific and Technical Description

retrieval of information are required. The combination of hyperlinks, structured arrangement of information and possibilities for dedicated searches are illustrated in Figure 4-20 below.

When implementing the additional functions, strict adherence to standard interfaces and extension methods is required. Otherwise, the resulting system no longer will be portable; further extensions and adaptation to advancements of the underlying technologies will become significantly more difficult.

Following the rapid development of the Web technology in the last few years, nowadays sufficient interfaces and programming methods are available.





4.7.3.2 System Architecture and Realisation Concept

4.7.3.2.1 Functional Description

The information system is based on a client - server architecture.

Clients are the computer systems of the users, which they use to interact with the information system, i.e. to search for and to retrieve information and to feed information into the information system. The client communicates with the server, it sends a request. The server, receiving the request, performs the necessary actions and sends the results back to the client (responds to the request). The client then presents the results to the user.





There are two basic manners how a human user interacts with an information system:

- search and retrieve information
- provide information, i.e. add a leaf or a sub-tree to the catalogue (cf. Figure 4-20).

Automated devices contribute to the information content altering 'local' data collections.

Information handled in the system is characterised by a set of attributes, the metadata. These are stored in addition to the 'real' information. To each piece of information metadata are correlated. The metadata essentially represent a label associated with the real information and contain the data required to manage the information properly. The metadata only are interpreted by the information system software. Metadata are stored in a database at the server and handled by the server software.

In contrast to this, real informations are not interpreted by the system software. They are stored as a whole and communicated to and from a client upon request. Processing of the real information is left to external applications available at the client system (i.e. textprocessors, image viewers, or specific application programs as signal analysis algorithms or LCC calculation tools).

The functionality to be provided essentially is derived from the requirements (4.7.3.1.2).

The basic functions of the system therefore are

- to support a user to find the desired information
- to support a user to provide information
- user administration
- access control
- management of information
- system administration

The information system manages the data in a structured manner to support quick and direct access. Two approaches for information access will be available:

- Navigation through the information collection, following the paths defined by the tree shaped structure
- dedicated searches on attributes and keywords.

Scientific and Technical Description

The information system incorporates a central information catalogue, implemented by means of a (relational) database system. There the metadata are stored following the directory structure and linked to the real information.

The client software includes a user interface providing the necessary function to perform both ways of information access.

Information can be stored within the information system (under control of the server) or can be provided giving access to 'local' data collections that remain under control of the provider/owner.

In both cases, the adequate metadata have to be communicated to the server. The information provider's user interface therefore includes functions to assign attribute values, to send the set of attributes to the server, and to upload the information itself.

The users and their respective access rights are administered centrally. Potential users wishing to join the system are required to register. Then an account will be established and access rights are assigned according to the user's intended role. The system than will guarantee that each user may access and provide information according to the rights awarded.

In general, users may upload data to the information system. The server must provide the functionality to store and to handle these data, including the association with the respective metadata. The server's functionality basically does not include any functions that require interpreting the data, but corresponding functions can be added trough standardised interfaces.

4.7.3.2.2 System Components

The core system providing the general functionality of the information system essentially consists of

- Client application software (front-end)
- Server software (back-end)
- metadatabase
- access control
- external applications

Figure 4-22 below shows a model of the system illustrating the interaction of the components.

Client	Request	Server metadata
Client- Software (Front-End)	Response	Software (Back-End)
External Applications		Access Control
		Information

FIGURE 4-22: Components of the information system

A more detailed description of the components of the system architecture and a discussion of the technologies available for the implementation is included in [RSYA].

4.7.4 SUMMARY

The proposed architecture for a reliability and maintainability management system combines the major functional components

- data acquisition, storage, and retrieval,
- monitoring of components,
- state prediction for components,
- communication of data and information,
- safety and reliability analyses,
- economic evaluation and optimisation.

The system is based on standardised components allowing the use of existing tools previously developed for particular platforms and also allowing the distribution of modules over different locations.

Platforms facilitating the integration of existing tools of legacy software and the implementation and management of distributed systems have been assessed. The Common Object Broker Architecture (CORBA) is deemed to be the most promising platform: CORBA is an internationally recognised standard, implementations are available for nearly all hardware platforms and operating systems, and through its interface definition language offers a systematic approach for the integration of legacy applications.

Interconnection between the functional blocks is widely built on the data and information they operate on. The procurement of relevant information is crucial for the management of maintainability and reliability. The proposed system therefore comprises an information system.

Application scenarios illustrate how various tasks in the field of reliability and maintainability management benefit from an information system. Requirements the information system has to meet are derived from these application cases.

The information system allows arranging information in a structured manner. Searches may be based on this structure (the information catalogue), or on description of the information content that are kept in an integrated database system (metadata, keywords).

The system is built from standardised components. The basic technical approach is to utilise techniques that have proven their usefulness and reliability in Internet and World Wide Web. Standardised interfaces and platform independent programming tools are available to implement the functionality that is required in addition to the mechanisms already included in the Web technology. This approach promises reliability, extensibility, portability, and cost effectiveness of the information system and enables the users to benefit from a rapidly developing technology.

The system functionality includes that of a conventional Web server. The Web functionality is enhanced in that

 the catalogue structure enables a user to navigate through the information collection, following the defined hierarchy,

- sets of attributes that describe the information enable dedicated searches based on well-defined criteria,
- adaptable and configurable access control mechanisms, based on the concept of user *roles*, enable highly differentiated user rights

The procurement of relevant information is crucial for the management of maintainability and reliability. An information system that is based on the architecture developed will facilitate and promote the introduction and implementation of the REMAIN methodology in railway organisations.

5 CONCLUSIONS

5.1 CONCLUSIONS

The execution of this project the duration of which was limited to 15 months has shown that it is feasible to produce considerable results in such a short period. This was mainly due to the expertise of the partners in RAMS areas in other industries that could be transferred with necessary adaptations to the needs of railway companies. Unfortunately the project is finished now after the partners have worked into the specific area.

The REMAIN project, originally intended by the Commission as a mere research study on all imaginable aspects of RAMS management, took a lot of profit out of the following favourable circumstances:

- Revision of the original workplan in co-operation with CEC
- Concentration on RAMS aspects for infrastructure
- Incorporation of a demonstrator provided by DB AG with relevant infrastructure components
- Exemplary application of the theoretical methods to parts of the demonstrator

Without the demonstrator it is judged that a lot of work would not have been able to be concentrated on the key issues and the result would have been only theoretical and less convincing.

REMAIN has focussed on condition monitoring and RAMS management for turnouts. It has proven that in spite of very high installation costs for the Roadmaster 2000 monitoring system, the life cycle costs can be reduced by a factor of 2, depending on the specific cost contributions. From two workshops held by REMAIN the conclusion is justified, that promising new condition monitoring approaches can be made available also for interlockings, level crossings and the track.

5.2 Recommendations

The REMAIN project has provided a suitable set of tools for the technical selection of condition monitoring equipment and for decision support in the financial evaluation of new equipment and the planning/organisation of the maintenance.

Tools used for condition monitoring are rather component specific. Monitoring methods used for turnouts can normally not be transferred to other components. It is recommended, that the railway companies should extend this work to other components that contribute significantly to delay time and maintenance costs. The selection can be based on statistical data of contributions to delay and failures as they were compiled in the requirements analysis of REMAIN. For selected components sensors must be applied and specific signal analysis and pattern recognition methods have to be developed. To share in this work and to avoid parallel developments an agreement should be met among companies on which one concentrates on which component and corresponding CON-method. Later these methods can be exchanged and be used on different computer platforms. The REMAIN system architecture has

devised means to integrate the tools and methods, so the implementation of the REMAIN system would remarkably facilitate this process.

All methods rely on data for which a *database structure* was defined. It is in accordance with ISO/DIS 14224 and as recommendation for the database it is stated that similar standardisation work should be started by railways, that would allow data exchange among European nations. These standardisation must comprise local and global database aspects. As a medium to access the global database also the Internet can be taken into account.

The methods for *decision support* and *strategic planning* provided by REMAIN are general and not component specific. They comprise:

- RESMAP, a method for strategic planning of Maintenance (to arrive at a correct type of maintenance and to choose correct PM intervals)
- An LCC model for comparing the annual LCC of various options (e. g. considering different types/amounts of PM or the possible use of condition monitoring equipment)
- RCAM, a change analysis method for comparing the safety of various options and to identify possible problems with respect to safety.

For the further elaboration of the decision and planning tools also in a combined effort among companies the following recommendations can be given:

- Developing computerised tools for performing LCC analyses, maintenance planning (RESMAP) and safety analyses (RCAM). The tools should e.g. perform numerical calculations, provide graphs for result presentation, and perform sensitivity analysis (e.g. as indicated in present report)
- An important issue is the reduction of maintenance costs by co-ordination of various maintenance activities. That is, instead of performing separate checks of infrastructure components by each maintenance department, one should try to carry out common inspections. Also, repair work should be performed by mixed teams, consisting of specialists from different sections. These questions are not addressed in the REMAIN project.
- Specific models for the failure progression of various equipment should be developed. This should result in a standard set of condition monitoring indicators and models.
- The LCC model could be extended to cover the more general concept of *Life Cycle Profit*. By this approach we will also model the *income* of the railway company, which seems particularly relevant for the owner of the railway infrastructure, renting the line to various traffic companies.
- In this context, the requirements on increased competitiveness/cost efficiency also make it very relevant to introduce higher level analyses, often referred to as *vulnerability* analyses. The increased complexity implied by serving different traffic companies, might easily result in a higher vulnerability (i.e. specific single events may have more dramatic effects than immediately foreseen). This could for instance be related to contract formulations and hazardous events (e.g. if an accident of one traffic company causes delays also of other companies). The ability to perform maintenance can also be affected.

A system architecture could be proposed, that allows to integrate existing software tools in the areas of data acquisition and retrieval, condition monitoring and state prediction, and in maintenance management and planning. The incorporated information system significantly contributes to the connection of the modules addressed, facilitating the provision of and the access to information, which is crucial for efficient execution of decision support and strategic planning methods. Thus the proposed system is a prerequisite for cost effective introduction of condition monitoring procedures and implementation of advanced planning techniques.

Consequently, it is recommended to implement the system in a relevant section of a railway organisation. As the system to a great extend can be build from standard components, there are no serious doubts about the feasibility. The modular structure will allow to proceed step by step, starting with the kernel functions of the information system and gradually extending the functionality and the range of use.

**

6 REFERENCES

6.1 PUBLIC DOCUMENTS

6.1.1 GENERAL, USER REQUIREMENTS, DEMONSTRATOR

Diez96 Diez, E.F., Erfolge des spanischen Hochgeschwindigkeitssystems AVE, in Eisenbahntechnische Rundschau, March 1996

- Fri95 Friedmann, P.: Weichendiagnosesystem im Feldversuch bei der DB AG ein Erfahrungsbericht. Signal und Draht 87, 1995, Heft 12, 12-13
- GL97 *Greuling, H. und Löwer, G.*, Instandhaltungdes Fahrwegs und Einsatz von Informationssystemen, in Eisenbahntechnische Rundschau, April 1997
- Hus96 Husemann, H., Fahrweginstandhaltung, in Der Eisenbahn-Ingenieur, September 1996
- Kus95 *Kusak, H.U.:* Ferndiagnose von Signalanlagen und ihre Auswirkung auf die Instandhaltungsstrategie. Signal und Draht 87, 1995, Heft 12, 5-8
- Pet95 Petersen, K., RIES 900 Rechnergestützte Instandhaltung elektronischer Signalanlagen, in Signal und Draht, Dezember 1995
- Pov93 Povse, H.: Überwachung, Sicherung und vorbeugende Instandhaltung von Weichen. Zukunftsorientiertes Qualitätssicherungskonzept für Hochleistungs- und Hochgeschwindigkeitsstrecken. Eisenbahningenieur 44, 1993, Heft 8, 479-481
- VAE96 VAE Roadmaster 2000 RA-96-REM.001/VAE/001/96-11-15/1
- 6.1.2 DATA ACQUISITION, DATABASE
 - HR94 A. Høyland and M. Rausand. Reliability Theory; Models and Statistical Methods. John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1994.
 - IEC 90 IEC 50(191). International Electrotechnical Vocabulary (IEV) Chapter 191 -Dependability and quality of service. International Electrotechnical Commission, Geneva, 1990.
 - ISO98 ISO/DIS 14224 ISO/TC 67. Petroleum and natural gas industries Collection and exchange of reliability and maintanance data for equipment. International Standards Organisation. Draft. To appear 1998.
 - ORE97 Offshore Reliability Data. Distributed by Det Norske Veritas, P.O.Box 300, N-1322 Høvik, Norway, 3 edition, 1997. Prepared by SINTEF Industrial Management. N-7034 Trondheim, Norway.
- 6.1.3 CONDITION MONITORING, SIGNAL ANALYSIS, FAILURE DETECTION
 - Box70 G. E. P. Box, G. M. Jenkins, Time Series Analysis forecasting and control. Holden-Day 1970
 - CAP94 CAP debis GEI GmbH: Konzept für die Ferndiagnose von Signalanlagen. CAP debis GEI GmbH, Mülheim/Ruhr 1994

References

DeJ80	J.B. De Jonge et al: "Counting Methods for the Analysis of Load Time Histories", Memorandum SB-80-106 U, National Aerospace laboratory NLR the Netherlands
DIN	DIN 45667:Klassierverfahren für das Erfassen regelloser Schwinungen (Classification methods for evaluation of random vibrations)
Egl95	<i>F. Eglseer</i> : Recording track and catenary geometry at 250 km/h. Railway Gazette International, 8, 1995
Eng96	G. Engeln-Mullges, F. Reutter, Numerik-Algorithmen, Entscheidungshilfe zur Auswahl und Nutzung. 8. Auflage, VDI Verlag 1996
ER97	ERTMS USERS GROUP: <i>Environmental Requirements Specification.</i> European Rail Traffic Management System (ERTMS); Reference EERG, 97s066, Brussels, 1997
Fen93	F. Fendrich: "Ziele, Perspektiven und Neuorganisation der Oberbauinstand- haltung" in "Erstellen und Instandhalten von Bahnanlagen", Edition ETR 1993, Hestra Verlag
Gel86	A. Gelb, Applied Optimal Estimation. 9. Auflage, The Analytic Sciences Corporation 1986
HRZ92	H. JHöhberger, M. Rechel, H. Zück: Die Oberbau-Meßwagen-Einheit Neuer Standard für die Gleismeßtechnik. ETR Eisenbahntechnische Rundschau 41 (1992) 6, S. 405-411
IITB96	N. Heinze, W. Heil, H. Fehrenbach: Mustererkennung in Einrichtungen der Deutschen Bahn AG. BMFT-Förderkennzeichen TV 9417, Institut für Informations- und Datenverarbeitung, Karlsruhe 1996
Kro96	K. Kroschel: Statistische Nachrichtentheorie, 3. neubearbeitete und ewei- terte Auflage. Springer Verlag, Berlin 1996
Mar63	D. W. Marquardt, Journal of the Society for the Industrial and Applied Mathematics, vol. 11, pp. 431441
Mat96	Matisa: Technische Beschreibung Matisa Gleismeßtriebwagen MATISA M 562 zur Aufzeichnung und Analyse des geometrischen Gleiszustandes. Matisa Materiél Industriel SA, Crissier (Schweiz) 1996
MIL	MILSTD1629A: Procedures for performing a failure mode and effect analysis. Department of Defence, Washington D.C.
Mut93	F. Muth, U. Lübbert: Beleuchtung und Optik für die genaue Vermessung mit bildgebenden Sensoren. FhG/IITB-Mitteilungen 1993, Karlsruhe
PP92	P. Profos, T. Pfeifer: <i>Handbuch der industriellen Meßtechnik</i> , R. Oldenburg Verlag, München 1992
Pre93	G. Presle: Der neue Oberbaumeßwagen der Österreichischen Bundesbahnen. Österreichische Zeitung für Verkehrswissenschaft, 1- 2/1993
Pre95	W. H. Press et al., Numerical Recipes in C. Second Edition, Cambridge University Press 1995
Pro96	J. G. Proakis, D. G. Manolakis, Digital Signal Processing, Principles, Algorithms, and Applications. Third Edition, Prentice Hall, Inc. 1996
Reh92	N. Rehfeld: Beitrag zur automatischen Bildfolgenauswertung von Aufprallversuchen in der Automobilindustrie. FhG/IITB-Mitteilungen 1992, Karlsruhe

SAE	SAE ARP 926: "Design Analysis Procedure for Failure Modes, Effects and Criticality Analysis (FMECA)", SAE Aerospace (Recommended Practice)
Sch90	E. Schrüfer: "Signaverarbeitung", Hanser Verlag 1990, München
SST97	Y. Sunaga, I. Sano, T. Ide: A Practical Use of Axlebox Acceleration to Control the Short Wave Axe Irregularities. Proceedings of the WCCR, Firenze, 1997.
WFZ88	A. Westermann-Friedrich, H. Zenner: "Zählverfahren zur Bildung von Kollektiven aus Zeitfunktionen", FVA-Merkblatt, Forschungsvereinigung Antriebstechnik e.V. 1988, Frankfurt

6.1.3.1 EXPERT JUDGEMENT

ABK95	Arentz, C., Bakken, J., Kilde, H.S., Klakegg, O.J., Krogh, J., Competence as a steering parameter - The basis for development (in Norwegian), NTH Rapport NTH 95010, PS2000, 1995.
AH95	<i>Austeng, K. og Hugsted, R</i> ., Stepwise calculation (In Norwegian), Institutt for bygg- og anleggsteknikk, NTH, 1995.
Coo91	<i>Cooke, R.,</i> Experts in Uncertainty - Opinion and Subjective Probability in Science, Oxford University Press, 1991.
GCS89	Gossens, L.H.J., Cooke, R.M., van Steen, J.F.J., Expert Opinions in Safety Studies, Vol. 1: Final Report, TUDelft, 1989.
ESA91	<i>European Space Agency - ESA</i> , Expert Judgment, Requirements and Methods, PSS-01-405, Issue 1 Draft 1-Nov. 1991, Noordwijk, the Netherlands.
HA94	Hokstad, P. and Aarø [\] , R., Reliability Data for Control and Safety Systems, SINTEF Report STF75 F94056, SINTEF Safety and Reliability, Trondheim 1994.
HO94	Hokstad, P. and Øien, K., The Use of Expert Judgments in Reliability Engineering Studies, Draft Report 1994-06-30.
HO94a	Hokstad, P. and Øien, K., Expert Judgment - For Assessing Input Data to a Small/medium Size Reliability Study, Presentation at the Growth Point Centre Group Meeting, Trondheim 1994-08-25, STF75 S94018.
HRO97	Hokstad, P., Reinertsen, R. and Øien, K., Recommendations on the use of expert judgement in safety and reliability engineering studies. Two offshore case studies. To appear in Reliability Engineering and System Safety, 1997.
Kla93	<i>Klakegg, O. J.</i> , The stepwise process (In Norwegian), Institutt for bygg- og anleggsteknikk, NTH, 1993.
KST82	Kahneman, D., Slovic, P. and Tversky, A., Judgment under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1982.
SO89	van Steen, J.F.J., Oortman Gerlings, P.D., Expert Opinions in Safety Studies, Vol. 2: Literature Survey Report, TUDelft, 1989.
Sve89	<i>Svenson, O.,</i> On expert judgements in safety analysis in the process industries. Reliability Engineering and Systems Safety, 25, 219-256, 1989.

REMAIN

References

6.1.4 REMAIN METHODOLOGY

6.1.4.1 SAFETY ANALYSIS

ACI85	AIChE (1985): Guidelines for Hazard Evaluation Procedures. American Institute of Chemical Engineers, AIChE.
ADS71	Annet, J., Duncan, K.D., Stammers, R.B., Gray, M.J. (1971): Task Analysis. Training Information Paper N6, H.M.S.O.
BHB94	Bodsberg, L., Hokstad, P., Berstad, H., Myrland, B., Onshus, T. (1994): Reliability Quantification of Control and Safety Systems. The PDS-II method. SINTEF Report STF75 A93064, Trondheim: SINTEF Safety and Reliability.
Dou90	Dougherty, E.M. (1990): Human Reliability Analysis - where shouldst thou turn? Reliability Engineering and Systems Safety, 29, 283-299.
EHR84	<i>Embrey, D.E., Humphreys, P., Rosa, E.A., Kirwan, B. and Rea, K.</i> (1984): SLIM-MAUD: An approach to assessing human error probabilities using structural expert judgment. NUREG/CR-3518. Washington: U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission.
GB94	Gertman, D.I. and Blackman, H.S. (1994): Human Reliability and Safety Analysis Data Handbook. New York: Wiley.
HB87	Hendrick, K. and Benner, L. (1987): Investigating Accidents with STEP. New York: Marcel Dekker.
Hol93	<i>Hollnagel, E.</i> (1993): Human reliability analysis. Context and control. London: Academic Press.
HRT90	Hollnagel, E., Rosness, R., and Taylor, J.R (1990).: Human reliability and the reliability of cognition. Paper presented at the International Conference Human Machine Interaction and Artificial Intelligence in Aeronautics and Space, Centre d'Etudes et de Recherces de Toulouse, Toulouse-Blagnac, 26-28 September 1990.
Joh80	Johnson, W.G. (1980): MORT Safety Assurance Systems. New York: Marcel Dekker.
Mei82	Meister, D. (1982): Reduction of human error. In Salvendy, G. (ed.): Handbook of Industrial Engineering. New York: Wiley.
NPD90	<i>Norwegian Petroleum Directorate</i> , "Regulations concerning implementation and use of risk analyses in the petroleum activities", 1990.
Pou88	<i>Poucet, A.</i> (1988): Survey of methods used to assess human reliability in the Human Factors Benchmark Exercise. Reliability Engineering & Systems Safety, 22, 257-265.
Rau91	<i>Rausand, M.</i> (1991): Risikoanalyse. Veiledning til NS 5814. Trondheim: Tapir/SINTEF Safety and Reliability.
RHI91	Rosness, R., Hollnagel, E., Ingstad, O., Kontogiannis, T., Sten, T., Taylor, J.R. (1991): Task Analysis Methodology for the European Space Agency - Final Report. SINTEF Report STF75 F91040. Confidential. Trondheim: SINTEF Safety and Reliability.
RHS92	Rosness, R., Hollnagel, E., Sten, T., Taylor, J.R. (1992): Human Reliability Assessment Methodology for the European Space Agency - Final Report. SINTEF Report STF75 F92020. Confidential.Trondheim: SINTEF Safety and Reliability.

	Ros94	<i>Rosness, R.</i> (1994): Human Dependability Methods for Control and Safety Systems. SINTEF Report STF75 A93060. Trondheim: SINTEF Safety and Reliability.
	SM82	Sadowski, R.P. and Medeiros, D.J. (1982): Planning and Control for Manufacturing Systems and Projects. In Salvendy, G. (ed.): Handbook of Industrial Engineering. New York: Wiley.
	SR93	Suokas, J. and Rouhiainen, V. (Eds., 1993): Quality Management of Safety and Risk Analysis. Amsterdam, Elsevier.
	SG83	<i>Swain, A.D. and Guttman, H.E.</i> (1983): Handbook of Human Reliability Analysis with Emphasis on Nuclear Plant Applications. NUREG/CR-1278. Sandia National Laboratories.
	Tay79	<i>Taylor, J.R.</i> (1979): A Background to Risk Analysis. Report, Risø National Laboratory, Risø.
	Wil86	<i>Williams, J.C.</i> (1986): HEART - a proposed method for assessing and reducing human error. 9th Advances of Reliability Technology Symposium. University of Bradford.
6.1.4.2	LCC	
	AB94	<i>H. Akselsson and B. Burström</i> , 1994, Life cycle cost procurement of Swedish State Railways' high-speed train X2000. Proc. Instn. Mete. Engrs. Vol. 208, pp 51 - 59.
	BEK94	<i>B. Burström, G. Ericsson and U. Kjellson</i> , 1994, Verification of Life-Cycle Cost and Reliability for the Swedish High Speed Train X2000. Proceedings Annual Reliability and Maintainability Symposium, pp 166 - 171.
	IEC87	Draft IEC/TC 56, "Draft - Life Cycle Costing - Concepts, procedures and applications", IEC, 1987.
	IEC96	International Standard, IEC 300-3-3, "Dependability management - Part 3: Application Guide - Section 3: Life Cycle Costing", IEC. First edition 1996.
	LA89	S. Lydersen and R. Aarø, "Life Cycle Cost Prediction Handbook; Computer- Based Process Safety Systems", SINTEF Report STF75 A89024, 1989.
	NORS94	NORSOK P-CR-002, "Common Requirements - Life Cycle Cost", Rev. 1, December 1994.
	NORS95	NORSOK O-CR-002, "Life Cycle Cost for Production Facility", Draft 1, September 1995.
	<u> </u>	

6.1.4.3 STRATEGIC PLANNING OF MAINTENANCE

- AN90 *R. T. Anderson and L. Neri.* Reliability-Centered Maintenance. Management and Engineering Methods. Elsevier Applied Science, London, 1990.
- CM65 D. R. Cox and H. D. Miller. The Theory of Stochastic Processes. Methuen, London, 1965.
- Dek95 *R. Dekker.* Integrating optimisation, priority setting, planning and combining of maintenance activities. European Journal of operatilnal research, 82:225-240, 1995.
- IEC85 Analysis Techniques for System Reliability Procedures for Failure Modes and Effects Analysis (FMEA). International Electrotechnical Commission, Geneva, 1985.

References

IEC95	IEC 300-3-11. Dependability Management; Part 3: RCM Guide. International Electrotechnical Commission, Geneva, 1995.
KA92	<i>B. Kirwan and L. K. Ainsworth</i> . A Guide to Task Analysis. Taylor & Francis, London, 1992.
Mou91	<i>J. Moubray</i> . Reliability-centred Maintenance. Butterworth-Heinemann, Oxford, 1991.
NH78	<i>F. S. Nowlan and H. F. Heap.</i> Reliability-centered Maintenance. Technical Report AD/A066-579, National Technical Information Service, US Department of Commerce, Springfield, Virginia, 1978.
RV97	<i>M. Rausand and J. Vatn.</i> Reliability Centered Maintenance. In C. G. Soares, editor, Risk and Reliability in Marine Technology. Balkema, Holland, 1997.
Smi93	A. M. Smith. Reliability-Centered Maintenance. McGraw-Hill, Inc, New York, 1993.
Wil96	<i>R. Wildeman.</i> The Art of Grouping Maintenance. PhD thesis, Erasmus University Rotterdam, Amsterdam, 1996. Tinbergen Institute Research Series.

6.1.5 System Architecture

6.1.5.1 INTEGRATION PLATFORMS

Bei96	<i>Beitz, A. et.al.</i> : Integrating WWW and middleware, Technical Report, Southern Cross University, 1995
Ben	<i>Ben-Natan, R</i> .:CORBA: a guide to the common object request broker architecture; McGraw-Hill, New York, NY, ISBN 0-07-005427-4
Ber96	<i>Bernstein, P.A.</i> : Middleware: A Model for Distributed System Services, Communications of the ACM, Vol. 39 No. 2, February 1996.
COR	The CORBA Standard: http://www.acl.lanl.gov/CORBA/
Mow95	<i>Mowbray, T.J., Zahavi, R.</i> :The essential CORBA : Systems integration using distributed objects; Wiley, New York, 1995, ISBN 0-471-10611-9
OMG	Object Management Group: http://www.omg.org
Orf96a	<i>Orfali, R. et.a</i> l.: The Essential Client/Server Survival Guide (2 nd edition), John Wiley & Sons, 1996.
Orf96b	<i>Orfali, R. et.al.</i> : The Essential Distributed Objects Survival Guide, John Wiley & Sons, 1996.
Sey94	Seybold, P. (Ed.): Roadmaps to Open Client/Server Distributed Computing, Patricia Seybold Group, 1995.
Tre96	<i>Tresch, M.:</i> Middleware: Schlüsseltechnologie zur Entwicklung verteilter Informationssysteme, Informatik-Spektrum 19, 1996.

6.1.5.2 INTERNET AND WORLD WIDE WEB

Ber-L94	Berners-Lee, T et al.: Uniform Resource Locators (URL); Internet RFC 1738; December 1994
Ber-L96	<i>Berners-Lee, T et al.</i> : Hypertext Transfer Protocol HTTP/1.0; Internet RFC 1866; May 1996
IETF	The Internet Engineering Task Force; http://www.ietf.cnri.reston.va.us/

ISO86	International Standards Organisation: Information processing - Text and office systems - Standard Generalized Markup Language (SGML); ISO 8879:1986
Jsof	Javasoft: http://www.javasoft.com/
bWl	JavaWorld: http://www.javaworld.com/
MSJ	Microsoft Technologies for Java: http://www.microsoft.com/java/
Pos81	Postel, J: Internet Protocol - Darpa Internet Program - Protocol Specification; Internet RFC 791; September 1981
Pos81a	Postel, J: Transmission Control Protocol - Darpa Internet Program - Protocol Specification; Internet RFC 793; September 1981
Rag97	<i>Raggett, Dave</i> : HTML 3.2 Reference Specification; http://www.w3.org/TR/REC-html32; Jan 1997.
W3C	W3C - The World Wide Web Consortium: http://www.w3.org/

6.2 REMAIN INTERNAL REPORTS

RURR	REMAIN Consortium (editor: SINTEF): User Requirements Report, Aug 1997
RDBR	REMAIN Consortium (editor: SINTEF): Database Requirements, Feb 1998
RSTF	REMAIN Consortium (editor: IITB): Switch and Track Failures and their Detection; Dec 97
RSAM	REMAIN Consortium (editor: IITB): Signal Analysis Methods in the Area of Reliability and Maintainability Prediction; Sep 1997
RXJH	REMAIN Consortium (editor: SINTEF): Expert Judgement – Handbook, Feb 1998
RSFA	REMAIN Consortium (editor: SINTEF): Safety Analysis, Feb 98
RLCC	REMAIN Consortium (editor: SINTEF): LCC Model and Application, Feb 1998
RSMP	REMAIN Consortium (editor: SINTEF): Strategic Maintenance Planning and Examples, Feb 1998
RSYA	REMAIN Consortium (editor: IITB): System Architecture, March 1998

Transport research publications series

For complete information about the transport research publications available and how to order them, please contact:

Commission of the European Communities Directorate-General for Transport — DG VII/E Transport research help desk Avenue de Beaulieu 31 — Office 4/83 B-1160 Brussels

Tel. (32-2) 295 43 00 Fax (32-2) 295 43 49

For complete information on the Transport Research and Technological Development Programme and for an up-dated list of available publications, you may also refer, via the Internet, to our Transport Home Page: 'http://www.cordis.lu/transport/home.html'.

Transport research — Fourth framework programme — Remain — Modular system for reliability and maintainability management in European rail transport

Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities

1998 — 97 pp. — 17.6 x 25 cm

ISBN 92-828-4943-0

Venta • Salg • Verkauf • Πωλήσεις • Sales • Vente • Vendita • Verkoop • Venda • Myynti • Försäljning

BELGIQUE/BELGIË

Jean De Lannoy Avenue du Roi 202/Koningslaan 202 B-1190 Bruxelles/Brussel Tél. (32-2) 538 43 08 Fax (32-2) 538 08 41 E-mail: jean.de.lannoy@infoboard.be URL: http://www.jean-de-lannoy.be

La librairie européenne/De Europese Boekhandel

Boekhandel Rue de la Loi 244/Wetstraat 244 B-1040 Bruxelles/Brussel Tél. (32-2) 295 26 39 Fax (32-2) 735 08 60 E-mail: mail@libeurop.be URL: http://www.libeurop.be

Moniteur belge/Belgisch Staatsblad Rue de Louvain 40-42/Leuvenseweg 40-42 B-1000 Bruxellex/Brussel Tél. (32-2) 552 22 11 Fax (32-2) 511 01 84

DANMARK

J. H. Schultz Information A/S Herstedvang 10-12 DK-2620 Albertslund Tlf. (45) 43 63 23 00 Fax (45) 43 63 19 69 E-mail: schultz@schultz.dk URL: http://www.schultz.dk

DEUTSCHLAND

Bundesanzeiger Verlag GmbH Bundesanzeiger Verlag GimbH Vertriebsabteilung Amsterdamer Straße 192 D-50735 Köln Tel. (49-221) 97 66 80 Fax (49-221) 97 66 82 78 E-Mail: vertrieb@bundesanzeiger.de URL: http://www.bundesanzeiger.de

ΕΛΛΑΔΑ/GREECE

G. C. Eleftheroudakis SA International Bookstore International Bookstore Panepistimiou 17 GR-10564 Athina Tel. (30-1) 331 41 80/1/2/3/4/5 Fax (30-1) 323 98 21 E-mail: elebooks@netor.gr

ESPAÑA

Boletín Oficial del Estado

Trafalgar, 27 E-28071 Madrid Tel. (34) 915 38 21 11 (Libros), 913 84 17 15 (Suscrip.) Fax (34) 915 38 21 21 (Libros), 913 84 17 14 (Suscrip.) E-mail: clientes@com.boe.es URL: http://www.boe.es

Mundi Prensa Libros, SA

Castelló, 37 E-28001 Madrid Tel. (34) 914 36 37 00 Fax (34) 915 75 39 98 E-mail: libreria@mundiprensa.es URL: http://www.mundiprensa.com

FRANCE

Journal officiel Service des publications des CE 26, rue Desaix F-75727 Paris Cedex 15 Tél. (33) 140 58 77 31 Fax (33) 140 58 77 00

IRELAND

Government Supplies Agency Publications Section 4-5 Harcourt Road Dublin 2 Tel. (353-1) 661 31 11 Fax (353-1) 475 27 60 E-mail: opw@iol.ie

ITALIA

Licosa SpA Licose SpA Via Duca di Calabria, 1/1 Casela postale 552 I-50125 Firenze Tel. (39-55) 064 54 15 Fax (39-55) 064 12 57 Fax (39-55) 064 12 57 E-mail: licosa @ thoc.it URL: http://www.ftbcc.it/licosa

LUXEMBOURG

Messageries du livre SARL 5, rue Raiffeisen L-2411 Luxembourg Tél. (352) 40 10 20 Fax (352) 49 06 61 E-mail: mdl@pt.lu URL: http://www.mdl.lu

Abonnements:

Messageries Paul Kraus 11, rue Christophe Plantin L-2339 Luxembourg Tél. (352) 49 98 88-8 Fax (352) 49 98 88-444 E-mail: mpk@pt.lu URL: http://www.mpk.lu

NEDERI AND SDU Servicecentrum Uitgevers

Christoffel Plantijnstraat 2 Postbus 20014 2500 EA Den Haag Tel. (31-70) 378 98 80 Fax (31-70) 378 97 83 E-mail: sdu@sdu.nl URL: http://www.sdu.nl

ÖSTEBBEICH

Manz'sche Verlags- und Universitätsbuchhandlung GmbH Kohlmarkt 16 A-1014 Wien Tel. (43-1) 53 16 11 00 Fax (43-1) 53 16 11 67 E-Mail: bestellen@manz.co.at URL: http://www.austria.EU.net:81/manz

PORTUGAL

Distribuidora de Livros Bertrand Ld.* Distribuidora de Livros Bertra Grupo Bertrand, SA Rua das Terras dos Vales, 4-A Apartado 60037 P-2700 Amadora Tel. (351-1) 495 90 50 Fax (351-1) 496 02 55

Imprensa Nacional-Casa da Moeda, EP Rua Marquês Sá da Bandeira, 16-A P-1050 Lish

P-1050 Lisboa Codex Tel. (351-1) 353 03 99 Fax (351-1) 353 02 94 E-mail: del.incm@mail.te URL: http://www.incm.pt ail.telepac.pt

SUOMI/FINLAND

Akateeminen Kirjakauppa/Akademiska Bokhandeln

Keskuskatu 1/Centraloatan 1 Keskuskatu 1/Centraigatan 1 PU/PB 128 FIN-00101 Helsinki/Helsingfors P./fm (335-9) 121 44 13 Sähköpost: akatilaus@akateeminen.com URL: http://www.akateeminen.com

SVERIGE

BT.I AB

Traktorvägen 11 S-221 82 Lund Trn (46-46) 18 00 00 Fax (46-46) 30 79 47 E-post: btjeu-pub@btj.se URL: http://www.btj.se

UNITED KINGDOM The Stationery Office Ltd International Sales Agency

International Sales Agency 51 Nine Elms Lane London SW8 5DR Tel. (44-171) 873 90 90 Fax (44-171) 873 84 63 E-mail: ipa.enquiries@theso. URL: http://www.theso.co.uk

ÍSLAND

Bokabud Larusar Blöndal Skólavördustig, 2 IS-101 Reykjavik Tel. (354) 551 56 50 Fax (354) 552 55 60

NORGE Swets Norge AS

Østenjoveien 18 Boks 6512 Etterstad N-0606 Oslo Tel. (47-22) 97 45 00 Fax (47-22) 97 45 45

SCHWEIZ/SUISSE/SVIZZERA

Euro Info Center Schweiz c/o OSEC c/o OSEC Stampfenbachstraße 85 PF 492 CH-8035 Zürich Tel. (41-1) 365 53 15 Fax (41-1) 365 54 11 E-mail: eics@osec.ch URL: http://www.osec.ch/eics

BĂLGARIJA

Europress Euromedia Ltd 59, blvd Vitosha BG-1000 Sofia Tel. (359-2) 980 37 66 Fax (359-2) 980 42 30 E-mail: Milena@mbox.cit.bg

ČESKÁ REPUBLIKA úsis NIS-prodejna

NIS-procepta Havelkova 22 CZ-130 00 Praha 3 Tel. (420-2) 24 23 14 86 Fax (420-2) 24 23 11 14 E-mail: hkpsp@dec.nis.cz URL: http://usiscr.cz

CYPRUS

Cyprus Chamber of Commerce and Industry CYPTUS Chamber of Co PO Box 1455 CY-1509 Nicosia Tel. (357-2) 66 95 00 Fax (357-2) 66 10 44 E-mail: info@ccci.org.cy

EESTI Eesti Kaubandus-Tööstuskoda (Estonian Chamber of Commerce and Industry)

Toom-Kooli 17 EE-0001 Tallinn Tel. (372) 646 02 44 Fax (372) 646 02 45 E-mail: einfo@koda.ee URL: http://www.koda.ee HRVATSKA

Mediatrade Ltd Pavla Hatza 1 HR-10000 Zagreb Tel. (385-1) 43 03 92 Fax (385-1) 43 03 92

MAGYARORSZÁG Euro Info Service Európa Ház Margitsziget PO Box 475 H-1396 Budapest 62 Tel. (36-1) 350 80 25 Fax (36-1) 350 90 32 E-mail: euroinfo@mail.matav.hu URL: http://www.euroinfo.hu/index.htm

MALTA Miller Distributors I td

Malta International Airport PO Box 25 Luga LQA 05 Tel. (356) 66 44 88 Fax (356) 67 67 99 E-mail: gwirth@usa.net

POLSKA Ars Polona Krakowskie Przedmiescie 7 Krakowskie Przedmiescie / Skr. pocztowa 1001 PL-00-950 Warszawa Tel. (48-22) 826 12 01 Fax (48-22) 826 62 40 E-mail: ars_pol@bevy.hsn.com.pl

ROMÂNIA Euromedia Str. G-ral Berthelot Nr 41 RO-70749 Bucuresti Tel. (40-1) 315 44 03 Fax (40-1) 315 44 03

BUSSIA CCEC

60-letiya Oktyabrya Av. 9 117312 Moscow Tel. (7-095) 135 52 27 Fax (7-095) 135 52 27

SI OVAKIA Centrum VTI SR Nám. Slobody, 19 SK-81223 Bratislava Tel. (421-7) 531 83 64 Fax (421-7) 531 83 64 E-mail: europ@tbb1.stlk.stuba.sk URL: http://www.stlk.stuba.sk

SLOVENIA Gospodarski Vestnik

Gospodarski vestnik Dunajska cesta 5 SLO-1000 Ljubljana Tel. (386) 611 33 03 54 Fax (386) 611 33 91 28 E-mail: europ@gvestnik.si URL: http://www.gvestnik.si

TÜRKIYE Dünya Infotel AS 100, Yil Mahallessi 34440 TR-80050 Bagcilar-Istanbul Tel. (90-212) 629 46 89 Fax (90-212) 629 46 27 E-mail: infotel@dunya-gazete.com.tr

AUSTRALIA Hunter Publications PO Box 404 3067 Abbotsford, Victoria Tel. (61-3) 94 17 53 61 Fax (61-3) 94 19 71 54 E-mail: jpdavies@ozemail.com.au

CANADA Les éditions La Liberté Inc.

3020, chemin Sainte-Foy G1X 3V Sainte-Foy, Québec Tel. (1-418) 658 37 63 Fax (1-800) 567 54 49 E-mail: liberte@mediom.gc.ca

Renouf Publishing Co. Ltd Henour Publishing Co. Ltd 5369 Chemin Canotek Road Unit 1 K1J 9J3 Ottawa, Ontario Tel. (1-613) 745 26 65 Fax (1-613) 745 76 60 E-mail: order.dept@renoutbooks.com URL: http://www.renoutbooks.com

EGYPT

The Middle East Observer

41 Sherif Street 41 Sherri Suree. Cairo Tel. (20-2) 393 97 32 Fax (20-2) 393 97 32 E-mail: order_book@meobserver.com.eg URL: www.meobserver.com.eg

INDIA

EBIC India Sird Floor, Y. B. Chavan Centre Gen. J. Bhosale Marg. 400 021 Mumbai Tel. (91-22) 282 60 64 Fax (91-22) 285 45 64 E-mail: ebic:@giasbm01.vsnl.net.in URL: http://www.ebicindia.com

ISBAËL

ROY International

41, Mishmar Hayarden Street PO Box 13056 61130 Tel Aviv Tel. (972-3) 649 94 69 Fax (972-3) 648 60 39 E-mail: royil@netvision.net.il

Sub-agent for the Palestinian Authority:

Index Information Services PO Box 19502 Tel. (972-2) 627 16 34 Fax (972-2) 627 12 19

JAPAN PSI-Japan

Asahi Sanbancho Plaza #206 7-1 Sanbancho, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 102 Tel. (81-3) 32 34 69 21 Fax (81-3) 32 34 69 15 E-mail: books@psi-japan.co.jp URL: http://www.psi-japan.com

MALAYSIA

EBIC Malaysia

Level 7, Wisma Hong Leong 18 Jalan Perak 50450 Kuala Lumpur Tel. (60-3) 262 62 98 Fax (60-3) 262 61 98 E-mail: ebic-kl@mol.net.my

PHILIPPINES

EBIC Philippines 19th Floor, PS Bank Tower Sen, Gil J. Puyat Ave. cor. Tindalo St. Makati City Makati City Metro Manilla Tel. (63-2) 759 66 80 Fax (63-2) 759 66 90 E-mail: eccpcom@globe.com.ph URL: http://www.eccp.com

SOUTH KOREA

Information Centre for Europe (ICE) 204 Woo Sol Parktel 204 Woo Sol Parktel 395-185 Seegyo Dong, Mapo Ku 121-210 Seoul Tel. (82-2) 322 53 03 Fax (82-2) 322 53 14 E-mail: euroinfo@shinbiro.com

THAILAND

FBIC Thailand 29 Vanisa Building, 8th Floor Soi Chidfom Ploenchit 10330 Bangkok Tel. (66-2) 655 06 27 Fax (66-2) 655 06 28 E-mail: ebicbkk@ksc15.th.com URL: http://www.ebicbkk.org

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Bernan Associates

4611-F Assembly Drive Lanham MD20706 Tel. (1-800) 274 44 47 (toll free telephone) Eax (1-800) 865 34 50 (toll free fax) E-mail: query@bernan.com URL: http://www.bernan.com

ANDERE LÂNDER/OTHER COUNTRIES/ AUTRES PAYS

Bitte wenden Sie sich an ein Büro Ihrer Wahl / Please contact the sales office of your choice / Veuillez vous adresser au bureau de vente de votre choix



L-2985 Luxembourg

*

+



ISBN 92-828-4943-0